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PART TWO
ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY






Introduction

he chapters that constitute Part Two on ecclesiastical history present the

role of the Arab foederati in the history of the Byzantine church in Oriens
in the reigns of the emperors of the sixth century and in those of Phocas and
Heraclius in the seventh. This century and a half may be divided into three
periods as far as Arab-Byzantine ecclesiastical relations are concerned.

1. The first period is represented by the reign of Anastasius, especially
the second decade of the century when Anastasius became openly Monophysite
and with him the Ghassanids. Federate-imperial relations were at their best
since lord and vassal belonged to the same doctrinal confession.

2. The second or middle period opens with the accession of a Chalcedon-
ian emperor, Justin I, in 518 and the beginning of a sharp reversal in imperial
ecclesiastical policy. This middle period is characterized by tensions that
strained the Arab-Byzantine relationship throughout the reign of Justin I,
Justinian, Justin II, and Tiberius, until it led to a bloody encounter with the
central government in 581 and the suspension of the Ghassanid phylarchate
for five years. The loyalty of the Ghassanids to the Monophysite confession
and their refusal to convert to Dyophysitism lie at the root of these tensions.

3. The third period opens in 587, when the Ghassanid phylarchate was
restored during the reign of Maurice, the same emperor who had exiled the
Ghassanid king, Mundir, to Sicily. A modus vivendi between the two parties
was worked out and endured throughout the reign until the death of Maurice
in 602. It also continued into the last two reigns of the proto-Byzantine
period, those of Phocas and Heraclius, with a definite improvement in rela-
tions, especially during the reign of Heraclius.

This diachronous treatment of Arab-Byzantine ecclesiastical relations is
followed by a number of topical studies that treat some saints with whom the
Arabs had a special relationship, such as Sergius, Cosmas and Damian, and
Julian of Emesa. The last chapter treats Arab Christianity in the Sinai Penin-
sula, while the Epilogue brings together the Arab foederati of the East and the
German foederati of the West as the adherents of non-orthodox Christian con-
fessions, namely, Monophysitism and Arianism. The comparative context in
which these two federate groups are discussed is consonant with one dimen-
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sion of the history of the Arab federates, their role as the Germans of the East,'
and the comparison is illuminating.

In addition to recording the history of the Ghassanid involvement in and
contribution to the Monophysite movement, this volume reveals other aspects
of Ghassanid life and history that have been obscure. Among other things,
these protectors of the Monophysite confession emerge as sedentaries and
builders of churches and monasteries. BASIC II will discuss their structures
and other aspects of their cultural life in detail.

! See the introductions to BAFOC, 8—11, and BASIC 1.1, xxix; and below, 737.



IX
The Reign of Anastasius (491-518)

he early period coincides with the reign of Anastasius, the crucial reign

for the fortunes of Monophysitism and the ecclesiastical history of the
Christian Orient throughout the sixth century, since it witnessed the triumph
of that movement when the emperor himself in the last years of his reign
became openly Monophysite. Brief as that period was, it proved sufficiently
important to set the stage for the tensions' and disputes of the entire century
between the Monophysites of the Pars Orientalis and the central Dyophysite
government in Constantinople, after the death of Anastasius in 518.

How the extraordinary happened, and the awfokrator was won over to
Monophysitism, has been explained by ecclesiastical historians. That move-
ment was lucky enough to be guided by two powerful and influential theo-
logians. One was Philoxenus, a Persian firebrand, who for the long period of
his episcopate over Hierapolis (485—518) worked fervently and incessantly for
the triumph of the movement. The other was Severus, a Greek from Sozopolis
in Pisidia, ascetic, dedicated, and administratively energetic. The combined
efforts of the two, one working in Constantinople and the other in Syria,
finally prevailed upon Emperor Anastasius to move toward the Monophysite
position. The emperor was already inclined to it, and it was alleged that he
was the son of an Arian mother and the nephew of a Manichaean uncle. So it
was not very hard for the two powerful ecclesiastics to effect his conversion,
and bring about the deposition of the three Chalcedonian patriarchs of Con-
stantinople, Antioch, and Jerusalem, and the appointment of others who were
Monophysites, including Severus himself to the see of Antioch.’

This was the ecclesiastical scene in the second decade of the sixth cen-
tury, and it is not difficult to see how this ecclesiastical revolution affected the
Arab foederati, especially the Ghassanids in Oriens, who, too, became Mono-
physite and ardent ones at that, during this reign.

This chapter will, therefore, treat the efforts of the Monophysites to
influence the Arabs and draw them into their orbit. It will discuss these

! Especially during the reigns of Justin II, Tiberius, and Maurice.
2 For this, see W. H. C. Frend, The Rise of the Monaphysite Movement (Cambridge, 1972),
213-20.
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efforts first within the empire, with the Ghassanids and the Kindites, and
then outside the empire in Hira and in South Arabia. It is in fact the story of
the Monophysite mission to the Arabs in the reign of Anastasius.’

I. WITHIN THE EMPIRE

The reign of Anastasius witnessed the influx of new federate blood into
Oriens, represented by the Ghassanids and the Kindites, which thus made the
federate structure in that diocese even more complex. In addition to the old
federates of the fourth and fifth centuries, the Tanukhids and the Salihids
respectively, Oriens now had two new powerful groups that dominated Arab-
Byzantine relations.

The doctrinal persuasion of these various federate groups in Oriens in the
reign of Anastasius as a result of the change of Anastasius’ doctrinal stance to
Monophysitism is not clear. The Tanukhids and the Salthids were Orthodox,
but how they were affected by the ecclesiastical policy of Anastasius is not
known. There is absolutely nothing in the sources for the reign which could
help answer this question. As to the two newcomers, Ghassan and Kinda,
certainty about confessional color can be predicated of the former, not of the
latter. But there are at least echoes in the sources which help the process of
reconstructing the religious history of these two federate groups in the reign
of Anastasius.

The Ghassanids

The conversion of Ghassan to Christianity as part of its settlement within
the /imes on Roman territory is mentioned by Ya'qabi for the period antedat-
ing 502 when they had not yet toppled the Salihids as the dominant Arab
federate group in the service of Byzantium.' The presumption is that they
were then Chalcedonians,’ especially as Anastasius was then in the first decade
of his reign. Although he was personally inclined toward Monophysitism, he
was interested in good relations with Rome and in restoring religious unity,
and had not yet championed the Monophysite cause openly. This was also the
situation after the turn of the century when the foedus of 502 was concluded.

3 It will thus complement other works for other reigns, such as Isrun Engelhardt, Mission
und Politik in Byzanz: Ein Beitrag zur Strukturanalyse byzantinischer Mission zur Zeit Justins und
Justinians (Munich, 1974).

4 See Ya'qibi, Tarikh (Beirut, 1960), I, 205. On Ghassinid-Salihid relations before 502,
see BAFIC, 282-89.

3 If these Ghassinids were related to those of Amorkesos, the adventurous phylarch of the
reign of Leo, chances are that they were Chalcedonians. On the possibility that Amorkesos was
a Ghassinid who was of the same doctrinal persuasion as his master Leo, see BAFIC, 59-113.
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So the exact doctrinal persuasion of the new foederati could not have been an
issue as long as they were Christian.

The situation changed dramatically around 510, and the conversion of
the Ghassanids to Monophysitism must have occurred in the last decade of the
reign of Anastasius since they are attested as Monophysite early in the reign of
the Chalcedonian Justin I. It was in this period that Anastasius departed from
his neutrality and openly championed the Monophysite cause. How the con-
version of the Ghassanids to Monophysitism was effected is not documented,
but there is little doubt that it took place in this decade under the influence of
the energetic and enthusiastic patriarch, Severus of Antioch, who was pos-
sessed by an ardent desire to convert the world to Monophysitism. Since the
Ghassanids lived within his jurisdiction in Oriens, they probably succumbed
to his overtures.

This conclusion is of course inferential. One can support it by reference
to the mission of Severus to Mundir, the Lakhmid king of Hira in 513, ttying
to convert him to Monophysitism.® It can be argued # fortiori that Severus
would have sent a similar mission to convert those Arabs who were within
Byzantine territory. Although the extant sources are silent on any overtures
made by Severus to the Ghassanids, they mention those made by other Mono-
physite ecclesiastics, who worked energetically beside Severus for the spread of
Monophysitism, such as Philoxenus. There is extant a fragment of a letter
addressed by him to John the Arab (Tayayé), in which the bishop of Hiera-
polis expounds Monophysite theology. The addressee has been tentatively
identified as John, the bishop of the Arabs of Huwwarin (Evaria) in Phoenicia
Libanensis,” who was a Monophysite prelate during the reign of Anastasius
and was one of the bishops exiled by Justin in 519. These Arabs were cer-
tainly foederati in the service of Byzantium, and it has been argued that they
were most probably the Ghassanids.® If so, then this would establish contact
between Philoxenus, the ardent Monophysite missionary, and an Arab federate
group. It is noteworghy that the addressee, called John, is ethnically an Arab.
If he is the same as John, the bishop of the Arab group at Huwwarin, the fact
becomes important in understanding the ecclesiastical policy of assigning to
the Arab foederati clerics of the same ethnic background.

Whatever the process that converted the Ghassanids to the Monophysite
confession was, there is no doubt that the pressure of the two powerful eccle-

6 On this, see below, 706-9.

7 For the lecter and the identification, see André de Halleux, Philoxéne de Mabboug: Sa vie,
ses écrits, sa théologie (Louvain, 1963), 216-17.

8 See below, 719-22.
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siastics in whose jurisdiction the Ghassanids lived must have been efficacious.®
In 519 the Ghassanids appear as definitely Monophysite, and’ this could have
happened only in the second decade of the century during the reign of Ana-
stasius.

The Kindites

Byzantium concluded a foedus with Kinda in 502 as it did with the
Ghassanids. The question arises as to whether conversion to Christianity was
one of the conditions of the foedus, especially for that part of Kinda that was
settled within the /imes. The presumption is that it was converted, if it had
not yet adopted Christianity earlier as a Peninsular power. As to its doctrinal
persuasion, it was probably Chalcedonian, as was Ghassan’s around 502.
Whether Kinda adopted Monophysitism as Ghassan was to do later, in the
second decade of the sixth century, is not clear. But those of Kinda who were
settled in Palaestina Prima are likely to have remained Chalcedonian. Just as a
strong Monophysite ecclesiastic, Severus of Antioch, was probably instrumen-
tal in the conversion of the Ghassanids to Monophysitism, so it was such
ecclesiastics as Elias, the staunchly Chalcedonian Arab patriarch of Jerusalem,
and St. Sabas, the celebrated monk of the Desert of Juda, who kept Palaestina
Prima Chalcedonian, or mostly Chalcedonian, even during the reign of Ana-
stasius. The Kindite Arabs who were settled in Palaestina Prima naturally
were influenced by the Chalcedonian Christianity of the province and most
probably remained within that doctrinal fold."

The only member of the royal house of Kinda whose Christianity is at-
tested beyond doubt is Hind, the Kindite princess, daughter of the same
Kindite Arethas with whom Anastasius made the foedus of 502. She built a
monastery in Hira, the Lakhmid capital, in which was found the most impor-
tant Christian Arab inscription of pre-Islamic times." She had that inscription
carved after the death of her husband, Mundir, the famous Lakhmid king, and

® Apparently Severus had the “ability to communicate with the native population of his
patriarchate,” and this is relevant to his influence on the Ghassanids; see Frend, Rise, 214. The
immense influence of another pair of Monophysite clerics on the Ghassanids— Jacob Baradaeus
and Paul the Black—is established and throws light on the influence of the earlier pair for
which there are no extant sources.

' In the 550s two Arab phylarchs fought with each other: Arethas the Monophysite
Ghassanid and Aswad, most probably a Kindite, either the same who fought with Areobindus
in 503 (below, note 11) or one related to him. The fight took place in Palaestina Prima but for
unknown reasons. If the Kindite Aswad was Chalcedonian, this could throw some light on
(although it would not fully explain) the animosity between the two phylarchs and consequently
the fight; for these two phylarchs, see Kyrillos von Skythopolis, ed. E. Schwartz, TU 49 (Leipzig,
1939), p. 75 (hereafter Kyrillos).

! For this inscription, see Rothstein, DLH, 24.
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during the reign of her son ‘Amr.” The inscription raises the question of
when Hind became a Christian, and what her doctrinal persuasion was. It is
certain that she did not adopt Christianity in Hira since her husband was a
notorious pagan who reveled in anti-Christian outbursts. Consequently she
must have been converted while still a Kindite princess, and if so her father,
Arethas, must have been Christian too. " She is supposed to have been married
to Mundir during a period of eclipse for him brought about by her father,"
who for some time became the ruler of Hira and replaced Mundir himself, in
the 520s."” She could have brought with her a Chalcedonian form of Chris-
tianity which she probably kept, or even a Monophysite one. The proud
Kindite princess would not have converted to Nestorianism, the tolerated
form of Christianity in Sasanid Persia and its prevailing form in Hira.'

The Ghassanids and Palestine

While the Patriarchate of Antioch finally fell to Severus, a Monophysite
of the deepest dye, who held office from 513 to 518, the Patriarchate of
Jerusalem remained solidly Dyophysite principally owing to the resistance of a
monk and a patriarch, St. Sabas and Elias of Jerusalem, both staunchly
Chalcedonian, except for two years when Anastasius finally dethroned Elias
and banished him to Ayla in 516. In view of this, it is unlikely that the
Ghassanids had any foothold in Palestine, especially since, as pointed out
earlier in this volume, Palaestina Prima was not their province but rather that
of the Kindites. Yet there is that tantalizing toponym that appears in an
Arabic source, namely, Dayr Ghassaneh, “the Monastery of the Ghassanids,”
which unmistakably points to a Ghassanid association."” The question arises as
to when it was established.

If the monastery dates to the reign of Anastasius, as is likely, it most
probably was established in the second decade of his reign. In spite of the
strongly Dyophysite character of Palestine, there were Monophysite pockets in
it, represented by the monastery of Peter the Iberian (between Gaza and Mai-
ouma), under whose influence Severus himself came when he was a monk at
that monastery as he was to be also at the monastery of Romanus (near

12 65 it may be dated sometime between 554 and 569.

'3 This is vouched for in her inscription in which she refers to herself as “the daughter of
the servant of Christ.”

4 See G. Olinder, The Kings of Kinda (Lund, 1927), 58, 62.

' For this see the present writer in “Ghassan and Byzantium,” 253-54.

'8 In addition to being a fine specimen of Christian Arabic in pre-Islamic times, the
inscription is informative on four generations of Kindites, an important genealogical datum.
She refers to herself as Hind, daughter of Harith, son of “Amr, son of Hujr. So this segment of
the genealogical line of royal Kinda is certain beyond doubt.

7 On Dayr Ghassaneh, see Basic 1.1, 654—55. Dayr “Amr in Palestine may also have been
a Ghassanid establishment, but it is less clearly Ghassanid than Dayr Ghassaneh.
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Tekoa)." The future patriarch of Antioch thus had strong Palestinian connec-
tions, and he kept his interest in Palestine even after his elevation to the see of
Antioch, trying, with the help of other Monophysite clerics, to convince Ana-
stasius to dethrone Elias, the Dyophysite patriarch of Jerusalem, which finally
took place in 516. As explained in the previous section, the Ghassanids were
won over to the Monophysite position in this decade during the patriarchate
of Severus and under the combined influence of the two powerful Mono-
physites of the patriarchate, Severus and Philoxenus, who kept their interest
in Palestine. The Ghassanids were geographically closer than both ecclesiastics
to Palestine since they surrounded it from the three provinces of Palaestina
Tertia, Arabia, and Palaestina Secunda and protected it against the pastoralists
of the Arabian Peninsula. Thus they must have been also interested in what,
after all, was the Holy Land to them. It is therefore not unnatural to suppose
that they effected a foothold in Palestine exactly in this period when the
emperor, the patriarch of Antioch, and also that of Jerusalem, were all Mono-
physite. " Perhaps Dayr Ghassaneh belongs to this period, and if Dayr “Amr,
“the monastery of ‘Amr,” is also Ghassanid, it may also belong to this period.

Discussion of the Arab presence in Palestine, that of the Ghassanids and
Kindites, in this ecclesiastical context has led to the discussion of the position
of the patriarch of Jerusalem in this period, Elias, himself a Rhomaic Arab.
The Palestinian ecclesiastical scene thus presents a paradoxical situation where
there was an Arab at the top ecclesiastical echelon in Palestine, while the
powerful federates, the Ghassanids in Oriens, were moving in the orbit of the
Pisidian Severus, sure sign that their Monophysitism was not related to their
ethnic makeup. The Arab patriarch, who was discussed in detail in the pre-
vious volume of this series,” wrote an important chapter in the history of
Palestine, the ecclesiastical fortunes of which he guided for some twenty-two
years from 494 to 516. Among his many ecclesiastical establishments was the
laying of the foundation of the New Church of the Mother of God in Jerusa-
lem, later finished by Justinian. His Arab flock, then, did not include the
Ghassanids and was limited to the phylarchs of the Parembole in the Desert of
Juda and most probably to the Kindites of Palaestina Prima.”

The zeal of the Ghassanids for Monophysitism, which became evident
throughout the sixth century, is startling, and its roots must go back to this

'8 On this, see Frend, Rise, 202. On the two Monophysite monasteries, see P. S. Vailhé,
“Répertoire alphabétique des monastéres de Palestine,” ROC 5 (1900), 44-48.

1% Alchough the newly enthroned patriarch John (516—524) did not anathematize Chal-
cedon; Rise, 230.

2% On Elias see BAFIC, 192-96, 210-12.

21 Elias was a firm and competenc administrator; ibid., 194-95. Yet Severus, his oppo-
nent, judges him “unstable and weak,” possibly the expression of patriarchal rivalry and jeal-
ousy; see Frend, Rise, 230 note 3.
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reign, that of Anastasius, to the powerful impact that the two strong Mono-
physite ecclesiastics, Severus and Philoxenus, had on them. In vain one tries
to extract from the silent sources data concerning this impact, but two events
in Oriens and the Patriarchate of Antioch could be considered relevant in this
connection.

1. First there was the consecration of the cathedral of Bostra™ between
September 512 and March 513. The Ghassanid phylarch most probably at-
tended the consecration. The headquarters of the Ghassanids was the Provincia
Arabia, and Bostra was its capital. The phylarch had important relations with
the dux of Arabia who resided in Bostra. Furthermore, the Ghassanids had
some important relations with this provincial capital, as the reign of Mundir
testifies late in the century. It is natural, therefore, to assume that on that
important occasion the phylarch of the province, who was newly converted to
the Monophysite faith, would have been invited, especially as the cathedral
was dedicated to the military saints Bacchus and Sergius, and Leontius, the
first of whom was the patron saint of the Ghassanids. That the Ghassanid
phylarchs were invited to such events is attested by the invitation to the
Ghassanid Mundir around 580 to attend the consecration of the church at
Huwwirin (Evaria), a much less important consecration.?

2. Then there was the splendid consecration of Severus himself on 16
November 513, at which Philoxenus officiated, when Severus delivered his
cathedral homily in which he denounced Chalcedon and the Tome of Leo.”
The Ghassanid phylarch must have been invited to attend the enthronement
of the patriarch who, together with Philoxenus, must have been instrumental
in winning over the Ghassanids to the Monophysite cause. Attendance at such
consecrations—that of the cathedral of Bostra and of the patriarch of Antioch
—must have impressed the Ghassanids and enhanced their attachment to
their new confession.

Trilinguis Zabadaea

Almost more than a century ago, E. Sachau discovered, on the lintel of
the west portal of a church in the western part of the ruins of Zabad, the
famous trilingual inscription in Greek, Syriac, and Arabic. The inscription
commemorates the erection of a martyrion for St. Sergius in 512, and it con-
tains a number of names written in the three languages with whom the erec-
tion of the church is associated. The inscription has been in the hands of a
host of scholars who have tried to establish its text. In spite of the ingenuity

22 For the latest on the “cathedral” of Bostra and the problems related to it, see the various
articles in La Siria Araba da Roma a Bisanzio, ed. R. F. Campanati (Ravenna, 1989).

2 See BASIC 1.1, 456—60.

24 gee de Halleux, Philoxéne de Mabboug, 78.
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that has been exercised in the study of the text for many years by the best-
known scholars in the field, the text of the inscription is not crystal clear. The
various names that are mentioned in it are associated with different functions,
the founder(s), the engraver, and the donors.”

The Trilinguis Zabadaea Inscription (IGLSYR, II [1939], p. 177).
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The relevant part of the inscription for the history of Arab-Byzantine
relations is the Arab names and the light they throw on cultural matters in
the history of Arab-Byzantine relations in the early part of the sixth century.
According to E. Littmann, the Arabic inscription contains five names: (1)
Sergius, son of Amat/Manaf; (2) Hunai’ (or Hannai’), son of Maralqais; (3)
Sergius, son of Sa‘d; (4) Sitr(?); and (5) Sergius.” The Arab name ‘Aziz also
appears in the Greek part of the inscription. In what way these Arab names
are associated with the church is not entirely clear.

In spite of these uncertainties, it is possible to make the following obser-
vations on the Arabic names in the inscription.

1. The first question that arises concerns the legal status of these Arabs.
Were they foederati or were they Rhomaic Arabs? There is no way of telling.
The region of Zabad, not far from Hierapolis, is associated with the Arabs,
and it has been argued that the Tanukhids were possibly the foederati of By-

25 The most complete account of the inscription may be found in IGLSYR, 1I (1939), pp.
176-81, with a facsimile of the inscription on p. 177 and an extensive bibliography on p. 178.
See also Répertoire chronologique d' épigraphie arabe (Cairo, 1931), I, pp. 2—3, with some additional
bibliographical items. Instead of Zebed, I have preferred the more correct orthography, Zabad.

% See E. Litemann, “Osservazioni sulle iscrizoni di Harran e di Zebed,” Rivista degli studi
orientali 4 (1911), 196.
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zantium in the fourth century that were associated with it.” So it is not
altogether impossible that they were federate Arabs who contributed some-
thing to the building of this church. Sharahil, the phylarch of Harran, is
attested epigraphically as having built a church dedicated to St. John. What
might raise the suspicion that these may have been federate Arabs is the
perfectly Arabian name of Mar alqais (Imru’ al-Qays), a name more associated
with the Arabian Peninsula whence the foederati had hailed”® than with Rho-
maic Oriens.

2. The church is dedicated to St. Sergius. Zabad is situated in the prov-
ince of Euphratensis where Rusafa (Sergiopolis), the pilgrimage center, was
located. Sergius was a military saint and one of the patron saints of the Roman
army in Oriens, and of the Ghassanids, and he was equally venerated among
the Arabs. Noteworthy is the fact that, according to Littmann, three of the
Arabs mentioned in the inscription bore the name Sergius.

3. The inscription is important palaeographically, since it is considered
to represent the earliest specimen of the Arabic script in Oriens. It antedates
the Harran inscription and also the one found at Usays.” The Namara inscrip-
tion of A.D. 328 is written in the Nabataean script. The trilinguis of Zabad
reflects the triculturalism of Oriens, and the employment of Arabic is striking
in spite of the fact that the two languages of cultural dominance in the region,
Greek and Syriac, are represented in the inscription. This reflects the strong
Arab identity of those Arabs whose names were included in the inscription,
sure sign that they were not completely assimilated into the Greek and Syriac
cultural traditions of the region.

4. These Arabs kept their Arabic names, used patronymics more Arabico,
and apparently insisted on having their names written in the Arabic script.
The last clearly indicates that, although they were living in a multilingual
ambience in which Greek and Syriac were used and were well known, these
Arabs did not think it was superfluous to have their names written in Arabic,
their own language. This is of some relevance to the problem of a simple
Arabic liturgy and a lectionary for the use of the Arabs, especially the foederat:
of Oriens. If the Arabs of the Zabad inscription turn out to be not foederati but
Rhomaic Arabs, the fact will be even more significant since it would argue
that even the Rhomaic Arabs, who were subjected to cultural assimilation,

21 See BAFOC, 403—4.

8 The adoption of Christian names by the Christian Arabs does not argue for loss of
identity. In the case of this inscription, the adoption of the name Sergius was natural, since he
was the saint of the region. Cf. the adoption of the name by one of the associates of the
Ghassianid Mundir, below, 959. On Sharahil’s church in Harran (provincial Arabia), see BASIC

L1, 326-31.
2 For the Arabic inscription at Usays, see ibid., 117—24.
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did not entirely lose their sense of Arab identity. So, in addition to the pa-
laeographic, there is this other important dimension to the inscription.

II. OuTSIDE THE LIMES

The Monophysite mission, or even missionary offensive, outside the frontiers
of the empire was even more impressive and is better documented. It reached
two important areas in the Semitic Orient, one in the middle Euphrates re-
gion in Hira, the capital of the Lakhmids, and another in South Arabia.

Hira
Two attempts were made to establish contact with Hira, one in the first
decade of the century and the other in the second. Both were attempts to
reach the ruler as the most efficacious way of converting his people or region.
The first is associated with the name of Philoxenus and the second with that
of Severus.

The First Attempt

Sometime in the first decade of the sixth century, the Monophysite met-
ropolitan of Hierapolis sent a letter to Aba Ya'fur, the Lakhmid ruler of the
Arab city of Hira on the middle Euphrates, in which he discussed Nestorian-
ism and the Christian faith from the point of view of Monophysitism. The
letter had been under a cloud concerning both its attribution to Philoxenus
and its authenticity, but most of the doubts were laid to rest in 1963 when
Father A. de Halleux published his dissertation on Philoxenus and set on a
firm foundation both the attribution and the authenticity of the letter, with
some reservations on certain parts of it.** Recent research on Oriens Chris-
tianus, especially its Arab sector, has confirmed these conclusions® beyond
any shred of doubt, and this section upholds these conclusions and enriches
them with new data. The letter of Philoxenus with its precious reference to
Abi Ya'fur, the ruler of Hira, turns out to be a mine of information for the
history of Arab Christianity in this period.

The most complete recension of the letter is that in the collection of the
John Rylands Library in Manchester,”” which inter alia gives the correct or-
thography of the name of the ruler of Hira as Aba Ya'fur and mentions him

30 See de Halleux, Philoxéne de Mabboug, 2038, where the author discusses the manu-
scripts, editions, and literature on the letcer.

?! This letter was noted in Martyrs (p. 271 note 3) bue very cursorily since it was not the
concern of that volume. The new data could have been at the disposal of ecclesiastical historians
who dealt with this letter and with Philoxenus, if Noldeke and Rothstein, the specialists on the
Lakhmid dynasty almost a century ago, had been aware of it, but they were not.

32 See A. Mingana, “The Early Spread of Christianity in Central Asia and the Far East: A
New Document,” Bulletin of the Jobn Rylands Library 9 (1925), 297-371; the relevant part that
deals with Abt Ya‘fur and Hira in its English version is on pp. 352-67.
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some three times. From it the following data may be extracted. (1) Philoxenus
apparently wrote two letters to Ab@ Ya'fur, one of which has survived. (2)
Philoxenus’ letters were in response to letters sent by Abi Ya'fur himself.
(3) The opening paragraph of the letter says something about the virtues of
Abi Ya'fur, of which he enumerates three. (4) Abt Ya'fur is referred to not as
king but as stratélatés, the military term, and Hira is referred to as Hirat
al-Nu'man, herta d’'Na‘man.*

The letter represents the earliest extant record of the attempt of the
Monophysites to establish contact with Hira and its rulers, an attempt that
was repeated many times in the course of the sixth century. That there was a
Monophysite problem in Sasanid Persia, including Hira, at this time is known
from other sources and may be summarized as follows. The Council of Seleucia
in 488 established Nestorianism as the accepted form of Christianity in Persia.
There followed apparently an assertion of Nestorian ascendancy in Persia with
persecution of the Monophysites, involving Bar-Sauma, the Nestorian bishop
of Nisibis, the flight of the Monophysites to Byzantine territory, and a letter
from Emperor Anastasius to the Persian king Kawad on this point.*

This is the background of Philoxenus’ letter to Aba Ya'fur. Philoxenus
hailed from Persia, and he must have been familiar with the religious situa-
tion in that region and the role that Hira could play in the protection of the
Monophysites, his fellow confessionalists. Two centuries before, it protected
the Manichaeans, and since then two of its kings had been associated with
Christianity, Imru” al-Qays and Nu‘man.” But above all, this was the style of
the metropolitan of Hierapolis—to go to the top of the administrative level
for protection, to the ruler himself in the capital. Although he did not suc-
ceed, since Abii Ya'fur disappeared from the scene shortly after and Hira
remained a Nestorian stronghold till the very end, the letter does witness to
the energy of Philoxenus in spreading his faith, which aimed at winning the
important center of Hira for Monophysitism, another instance of his mission-
ary zeal which encompassed such distant centers of the Near East as Constanti-
nople and also Najran in South Arabia.

More important is the light the letter throws on Aba Ya'fur and the
history of the Lakhmid dynasty in this obscure period and on Christianity in
that Arab center. All that the specialized monographs on Hira* and the
Lakhmids know of Abd Ya'fur is that he was a Lakhmid appointed by Kawad
after the death of King Nu'man from a wound he received before the walls of

33 For these references, see ibid., 352, 358, 367.

34 See P. Charanis, Church and State in the Later Roman Empire (Madison, Wisc., 1939),
29-30.

3 See BAFOC, 32—34; BAFIC, 161—66.

36 See Noldeke, PAS, 169; Rothstein, DLH, 74-75.
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Edessa in 503, and that he did not last long, since the famous Mundir III
appears as the king of Hira shortly after. Now this bald statement receives
both confirmation and bright illumination from Philoxenus’ letter.

1. Aba Ya'fur was a Lakhmid, but he did not belong to the ruling
house, the Nasrids or “the sons of Nasr.” This much had been known about
him before the letter of Philoxenus was published. With this document and
other data from the Arabic sources, Abi Ya'fur appears as the son of another
Lakhmid, ‘Alqama, who fathered another son, who had the emphatically
Christian name of ‘Abd al-Masih.”” Here then is a clan within the Lakhmids
called Bani ‘Alqama, “the sons of “Algama,” which played an important role
in the history of Christianity in Hira.

2. The house of ‘Alqgama thus was already Christian when Aba Ya'fur
appears as the ruler of Hira. This is confirmed by the letter itself, as is clear
from the opening paragraph.” The question of his Christian confession natu-
rally arises. If his father, “Algama, was converted to Christianity, the natural
presumption is that he was baptized into Nestorianism. This is a likely pre-
sumption, and equally likely is that his son Aba Ya‘fur was born into or
converted to the same doctrinal persuasion.

3. Yet the letter is startling in suggesting that Aba Ya'fur was not
Nestorian. In the opening paragraph he is described as “one who delivers the
lambs bought with the blood of Christ from the heresy of the Nestorians
which is a second Jezebel, like Obadiah.” Yet the implication is that he was a
Christian; so to which Christian confession did he belong? The possibility
must be entertained that he was won over to either the Chalcedonian or the
Monophysite position. This should not be as startling as it sounds. It was in
this period that there was a severe persecution of the Monophysites in Persia,
and so much so that Emperor Anastasius had to intervene and sent representa-
tions to the Persian king, Kawad. It is not impossible that Abé Ya'fur may
have been outraged by these persecutions conducted by the Nestorians, that
he found it revolting and so wrote to the nearest ecclesiastic to him, Philo-
xenus at Hierapolis, for advice. Besides, he may have known that Philoxenus
was a Persian. In support of this is the history of Aspebetos, the pagan Arab
commander who was so outraged by the persecution of the Christians in Persia
during the reign of Yazdgard that he defected to Byzantium and fidally be-
came the phylarch and bishop of the Parembole in Palestine.”

4. This could have been the background of the letter that Aba Ya‘fur
sent to Philoxenus, asking him to inform him about this Christian confession
that had outraged him by its severe persecution of fellow Christians. It should

37 On this see below, note 47.

38 See Mingana, “Christianity in Central Asia,” 352.
3 On Aspebetos see BAFIC, 40-49.
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be remembered that Kawad himself had requested to be informed about
Christianity and other religions, and so a statement was prepared for him and
translated into Persian.” If his overlord did this, the vassal could easily have
done the same. Kawad, as is well known, meandered from one religious fold
to another, Mazdakism included; hence the period during which Aba Ya'fur
flourished serves as appropriate background for his conversion.

5. This raises the question of his choice as successor for Nu‘man. It is
possible that the anti-Christian outbursts of the latter® may have alienated the
Christian population in Hira, as it did one of the chiefs in his army, and this
may have led to some disturbances. So the appointment of the Christian Aba
Ya'fur in Hira could have stabilized the situation. On the other hand, Mun-
dir, the son of Nu'man, may still have been a minor, and so Kawad simply
appointed a competent warden from the same tribe of Lakhm until Mundir
reached his majority. It is noteworthy that he is not called king but by the
military term stratélatés of the Hirta, which too suggests that Kawad did not
appoint him king since kingship belonged to the house of Nasr, not to the
‘Algamids. This suggests that his appointment was temporary and contin-
gent. The Nasrid prestige is reflected in the name of Hira which is called Hira
of Nu‘min, the Nasrid Lakhmid king. It should also be remembered that the
war with Byzantium was still going on and that the Arabs of Hira took an
active part in it. Hence what was needed in Hira after the death of Nu'man
before the walls of Edessa was a warrior, a soldier who could keep Hira well in
hand.

6. In the Chronicle of Tabari, so ably edited and interpreted by Noldeke,*
Abt Ya'fur appears as a name, that of the ruler of Hira during this short
interregnum. This opacity that surrounds him is illuminated by the letter,
which provides three dimensions to his personality:* he is noble, pure and
God-loving as Abraham; he gives his wealth in alms to the poor as Job did;
and he delivers the Christians from the heresy of the Nestorians. The first
presents him as a monotheist, the second is almost Arab in emphasizing his
generosity; the third reflects his confessional affiliation and efforts against
Nestorianism. If all this is an accurate picture of Aba Ya'fur and not the
wishful thinking of the writer of the letter, then this document has preserved

40 On this see Histoire Nestorienne, ed. A. Scher, PO 7 (Paris, 1911), 126. In the letter, p.
358, Philoxenus speaks of the second letter of Abii Ya'fur, in which he requests information
from Philoxenus concerning the Akephaloi among the Monophysites. This does not seem a
literary device on the part of Philoxenus, and so it is quite possible that Abii Yafur had some
interest in theology or religious sects, not unlike his master Kawad or the Ghassanid Arethas
for whom, see below, 741 note 22 and p. 746-55.

41 On this see BASIC 1.1, 13-17.

42 Ngldeke, PAS, 169.

43 Mingana, “Christianity in Central Asia,” 352.
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a picture of an Arab Lakhmid chief around A.D. 500 not unlike that of As-
pebetos, another army commander whom the persecution of Christians in Per-
sia outraged and forced to emigrate to Byzantine territory.

7. The historian of the Lakhmid dynasty, G. Rothstein, was at a loss to
explain the disappearance of Abii Ya'fur from the scene in Hira after such a
short interregnum.* The letter now provides some satisfactory explanation for
this. Here was a vassal of the Persian king carrying on a correspondence con-
cerning the Christian faith, that of the enemy Byzantium, with a metro-
politan of Hierapolis so close to the Persian frontier. This must have made
him suspect in the eyes of the Persian authorities, and the Nestorians would
have lost no time in denouncing him as a traitor. Kawad dismissed him, and
this may be confirmed by the appointment of Mundir III who celebrates his
reign pointedly by the invasion of the Holy Land, thus emphasizing that a
non-Christian ruler was again in the saddle in Hira, like his father Nu‘man.

This examination of the letter of Philoxenus to Abi Ya'fur has further
confirmed its essential authenticity, or at least that part of it that deals with
Christianity in Hira and the Land of the Two Rivers. The Syriac source had
confirmed the reliability of the Arab historian Hisham on the Lakhmids,” and
has brightly illuminated the history of Hira and the Lakhmid dynasty in this
short period in the first decade of the sixth century. A clan within the Lakh-
mids has thus been identified as the Christian clan of Banii ‘Algama, the sons
of “Algama, to be added to others in Hira such as “the house of Ayyub."*
Their Christianity is confirmed onomastically and epigraphically. According
to the genealogies, this “Algama had two sons (at least); one is Aba Ya'fur,
the other ‘Abd al-Masih; the latter had a son called Hanzala, who built a
monastery at Hira in which a Christian Arabic inscription was found,* all of
which is relevant to the study of Arabic as one of the languages of Oriens
Christianus in pre-Islamic times.

The Second Attempt

Some ten years after Philoxenus’ effort to convert Aba Ya'fur of Hira to
Monophysitism, another attempt was made, this time in 513 by Severus, the
newly consecrated Monophysite patriarch of Antioch, who according to eccle-
siastical historians sent two bishops to Mundir III of Hira in order to convert

4 Rothstein, DLH, 75.

% That is, in the case of Aba Ya'fur, who appears chronologically in the letter exactly
where Hisham placed him.

“ On this house, see BASIC 1.1, 315-18.

47 On Dayr Hanzala and its inscriptions, see Bakei, Mu'jam ma Ista"jam, ed. M. al-Saqqa
(Cairo, 1947), Il, 577, and Yaqit, M« jam al-Buldan (Beirut, 1956), II, 507. In addition to
Dayr Hanzala, there is also Dayr “Algama, named after the father of Abi Ya'fur, for which see
Bakri, op. cit., 590. Both will be discussed in BASIC IL
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him. Mundir, however, confounded and embarrassed the two bishops sent by
Severus and remained “orthodox” in faith. The authenticity of this report has
been much discussed, and its latest treatment goes back to the early 1970s.*
The subject may now be discussed anew in light of recent research, especially
the detailed analysis of the letter of Philoxenus.

1. Of the many authors who report Severus’ mission, Theodore Ana-
gnostes (Lector) is the main source from whom all the rest derive.” It is
especially important to emphasize this because Theodore was a contemporary,
and so his report may be considered reliable.”

2. A mission to convert the powerful ruler of Hira is very much in
consonance with what is known about Severus, the zealous and dedicated
Monophysite patriarch who had just been consecrated to the see of Antioch
and who was anxious to convert the world around him to his confession.

3. A close relationship obtained between Philoxenus and Severus, and in
fact the former was instrumental in elevating Severus to the patriarchate and
took part in his consecration. The two clerics were in communication and
were close to each other geographically. It is natural to suppose that Philo-
xenus informed Severus of his previous efforts to convert Aba Ya'fur, and it is
quite possible that the initiative to renew efforts to convert Hira and its ruler
may have come from Philoxenus. It is tempting to think that Philoxenus may
himself have been one of the two bishops who went to Hira to convert Mundir
since he had hailed from Persia and was already familiar with the Hiran situa-
tion through his correspondence with Aba Ya'fur.

4. Severus’ interest in Hira is attested from other sources, one of his own
letters addressed to two clerics, Jonathan and Samuel, and “all the rest of the
Orthodox who assembled in the church of the city of Anbar and in the church
of Hira of Nu‘'man.””

So the Monophysite mission to Hira in 513 may be accepted as historical
and interpreted as an ambitious attempt on the part of Severus to win over to

8 See the present writer in Martyrs, 269—72, where the arguments for Mundir’s Chris-
tianity are set forth with light from the new letter of Simeon of Béth-Arsham, published and
studied chere.

49 See Theodoros Anagnostes Kirchengeschichte, ed. G. C. Hansen, GCS 54 (Berlin, 1971),
147. For the other sources on this episode, see Martyrs, 269 note 2, to which may be added
Nicephorus Callistus Xanthopulos, Historia Ecclesiastica, PG 147, Book XVI, col. 193.

%% For those who rejected the account, see Martyrs, 269 note 5, to whom may now be
added Hansen in Theodoros Anagnostes, 147. The objections he advanced may be answered as
follows: (a) the Arab chief whom Severus wanted to convert was an important person, rightly
called in one of the sources (Victor Tunnunensis, ibid., line 4) Saracenorum rex; but the sources
know of no one with the name of Mundir in this period other than the Lakhmid king; (b) this
person could not have lived “im Bereich des rémischen Limes,” since all the phylarchs of the
Romans were already Christian in this period.

31 See Letters of Severus, PO 12, pp. 216—17.
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Monophysitism the powerful ruler of Hira, the most important Arab center in
the Fertile Crescent.

The report, however, raises questions about Mundir’s religion at the time
of this mission. In the early 1970s, and in light of the discovery of a new
letter by Simeon of Béth-Arsham in which there is a reference to Mundir
swearing by the Gospel, it was suggested that Mundir, the pagan and anti-
Christian ruler of Hira, was at one time in his life a Christian, and it was also
suggested that his Christianity must have been Nestorian.” But in view of
that reference to Mundir in the ecclesiastical account as a Chalcedonian, it is
not impossible that Mundir was converted to the Dyophysite position for a
short time in this period and was already such when Severus’ two bishops
arrived at his court. Support for this could come from the fact that Mundir
was married to a Christian Kindite princess, Hind, the daughter of the Kind-
ite king, Arethas, with whom Byzantium concluded the foedus of 502. And it
has been argued that Kinda's conversion to Christianity at that time was to
Dyophysite Christianity since it happened before Anastasius became openly
Monophysite in the second decade of this century.” So there was a Christian at
Mundir’s court, his own wife, and it is possible that she had influenced him
to become Christian for a short time and that this was his persuasion when the
two Monophysite bishops arrived and found him a Dyophysite as the eccle-
siastical historian reports.

This is all that can be said in support of the view expressed by the
ecclesiastical historians who reported the episode, namely, that Mundir was a
Chalcedonian at this time. However, this view encounters a difficulty deriving
from the uncertainty that attends the date of Mundir’s marriage to the Kind-
ite princess Hind. As expressed earlier in this volume, it was possibly in the
520s.”* If so, this would invalidate the argument, but no certainty attaches to
this dating. So chances are equal that Mundir at this time was either Chalce-
donian or Nestorian, and either would do as a background for the statement
in the letter of Simeon that he swore by the Gospel sometime in the second
decade of the sixth century. What matters here is the mission of Severus to
Mundir, which, as has been argued, must be accepted as historical, unsuccess-
ful as it was.

Mundir was no theologian, and his rejection of the overtures of the two
Monophysite bishops was certainly not on theological grounds. He was the
vassal of the Persian king, and the latter would not have tolerated from his
vassal the acceptance of a form of Christianity that in the second decade of the

32 See Martyrs, 270-72.

si On Kinda's Christianity and on Hind, see above, 696-97, and BASIC II, forthcoming.
> Ibid.
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sixth century was the official Christianity of the secular enemy, Byzantium.
Chalcedonian Christianity was bad enough from the point of view of the Per-
sian king and the Zoroastrian establishment.”

Mundir reverted to paganism late in the decade, and this reversion may
be attributed to pressure from his overlord Kawad who looked on the
Lakhmid king as a convenient ally for expressing his displeasure with Chris-
tian Byzantium.* Booty from the rich Christian shrines of Oriens must have
appealed to the predatory instincts of the Lakhmid king, but rifling Christian
shrines would have been impossible for him as a Christian. His Christianity
was very thin to start with, and once the Persian king signaled his disapproval
of his client’s religious persuasion, it was not difficult for the latter to revert
to paganism.

South Arabia

Although the Monophysite mission to convert the Lakhmids of Hira
failed, it was signally successful in South Arabia. This has been treated in
detail for the reign of Anastasius in the previous volume of this series,
BAFIC,” and more will be said on it in BASIC II in the discussion of western
Arabia. But, as the conversion of South Arabia to Monophysitism was the
work of Philoxenus, it is only fitting that it should be briefly treated here,
after his efforts to convert Hira which were discussed in the previous section,
in order to indicate the full extent of his activity in the propagation of that
confession. South Arabia represents the farthest limit of this activity in the
Semitic Orient.

Himyar

Knowledge of a Monophysite mission to Himyar in South Arabia is owed
to John Diacrinomenus, the Monophysite writer who said that his own mater-
nal uncle, Silvanus, was dispatched to Himyar in the reign of Anastasius. This
valuable but bald statement has left many questions unanswered concerning
this Silvanus, such as the occasion for his dispatch, the year, and his see. No
definite answer can be given to these questions, and it was suggested that his

3% Of the Monophysite mission to convert Mundir, Frend (Rise, 229 and note 2) says: “In
the South, Severus' emissaries failed miserably to convince some important Arab tribes of the
Syrian frontier that Monophysitism was a satisfactory belief.” This must have been a Japsus
calami on the part of the distinguished historian of Monophysitism since the object of the
mission was Mundir the Lakhmid king of Hira, on the lower or middle Euphrates and nor “Arab
tribes” in the south “on the Syrian frontier.”

%6 Mundir’s Christianity, if indeed he was a Chalcedonian, must also have become unac-
ceptable to his Persian overlord, in view of the return of Byzantium to the Chalcedonian fold on
the accession of Justin I in 518.

%7 See BAFIC, 360-81, 401-4.
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episcopal see was either Mukha or Zafar itself, the capital, or possibly Najran.
Whether Philoxenus was involved in this missionary effort is not stated. But
in view of his interest in the Arab and Arabian area, it is not unlikely that he
was behind the dispatch of Silvanus to South Arabia.”

Hadramawt

The Monophysite presence in South Arabia is also attested in Hadramawt
and is associated with another important figure in the history of the Mono-
physite church, namely, John of Tella. According to the new letter of Simeon
of Béth-Arsham, one of the martyrs in Hadramawt around the year 520 was a
presbyter by the name of Elias, who had been a monk at the convent of Béth
Mar-Abraham near Callinicam and who was ordained presbyter by John of
Tella. Another presbyter who was also martyred in Hadramawt was Thomas
who had been a monk at the monastery of Béth Mar-Antiochina in Edessa.”
So here are two presbyters assigned to Hadramawt, who had hailed from the
Monophysite world of Oriens, one of whom, Elias, had been ordained by John
of Tella. Although it is not stated that John of Tella was involved in his
dispatch to, or his presence in, Hadramawt, the chances are that he was, and
if so, John of Tella may be added to the list of Monophysite ecclesiastics who
were active in the mission to Arabia.®

Najran

More important than the Monophysite presence in Himyar and
Hadramawt was the Arab city of Najran, situated in the northern part of
South Arabia. A flood of light has been thrown on it for the reign of Ana-
stasius by the new letter of Simeon of Béth-Arsham, which solves the problem
of the inception of its episcopate. This document clearly states that Philoxenus
consecrated two bishops of Najran: Paul I, the first bishop that Najran re-
ceived, and Paul II, consecrated bishop of Najran sometime after Paul [ was
martyred in Zafar.®

This report on the Monophysite presence in Najran calls for the follow-
ing observations.

1. Najran had been converted to Christianity in the first half of the fifth
century by Hayyan, one of its merchants, who brought the Christian Gospel

*® Ibid., 376-81, 401-4.

% On this, see Martyrs, 45 and notes on pp. 68—71. The ecclesiastics were martyred in
Hadramawe ca. 520, but their ministry in Hadramawt goes back earlier, to the reign of Ana-
stasius.

% E. Honigmann, Evéques et évichés monophysites d'Asie antérieure au Vle siicle, CSCO, Sub-
sidia 127 (Louvain, 1951), 51-52.

61 See Martyrs, 46.
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from Hira before the birth of the Monophysite movement. But it was in the
reign of Anastasius and through the vision of Philoxenus that Najran acquired
its strong Monophysite character, which determined the confessional stance of
South Arabia for a century till the rise of Islam.

2. How this came about is not entirely clear, but it has been suggested
that the Ghassanids in Oriens, who became the zealous Monophysites among
the Arabs, were partly responsible for this shift in doctrinal persuasion in
Najran. The Ghassanids were related to the Arabs of Najran and had close ties
with them, and it is not impossible that they were involved in carrying the
Monophysite flame there.®

3. The consecration of a bishop for Najran is a clear indication that
Christianity had advanced far enough in that city to require an episcopal pres-
ence. The Monophysite church wanted a center in South Arabia that it could
consider its firm foothold in that region whence Christianity might spread,
and Najran clearly qualified as such since Christianity was introduced to it
relatively early in the first half of the fifth century.

4. The success of Philoxenus’ efforts in establishing a strong Mono-
physite presence in Najran is reflected in various ways: in the rise of an orga-
nized hierarchy for the church in Najran whose names have been preserved in
the new letter of Simeon of Béth-Arsham, in the international character of
many of the clerics who formed this hierarchy,* and in native Najranites,
acting as missionaries or ministers of the faith in other parts of South Arabia,
such as the presbyter Thomas who died a martyr in Hadramawt.®

The conversion of South Arabia to the Monophysite confession of Chris-
tianity was a major triumph for Monophysitism and for Philoxenus.* This was
an event of the first importance in the history of the Arabs and the Arabian
Peninsula. As far as Monophysitism is concerned, it represented a major con-
quest, that of a vast province, a triumph that was to be repeated later in the
century, when Nubia across the Red Sea was won over to Monophysitism in
the reign of Justinian, thus making the whole of the valley of the Nile a
Monophysite valley, after Egypt and Ethiopia had also been won over to the
same doctrinal persuasion.

%2 See BAFIC, 373-76.

 Ibid., 373-74.

4 See Martyrs, 64.

 Ibid., 45.

6 To whom may be added John of Tella and possibly Simeon of Béth-Arsham who, in the
reign of Justin, became the spirit behind the scenes, campaigning for avenging the martyrs of
South Arabia. But he had been active before and may have been in touch with Philoxenus since
he was also, like the bishop of Hierapolis, a Persian. It is also tempting to think that the two
bishops who were sent to the Lakhmid Mundir in 513 may have been the two Persians, Philo-
xenus and Simeon.
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ITII. APPENDIX
“The Camp of Anasartha”: A Cautionary Note

In one of his letters,' the Monophysite patriarch of Antioch, Severus (513-518),
addresses the monks of the monastery of Mar-Isaac concerning the consecration of one
of them, Stephen, as bishop of “the camp of Anasartha” in Syria Prima. The men of
the “camp” had submitted a list to him, and he chose Stephen, whom he recommends
strongly. The following three passages are from Severus’ letter as translated by E. W.
Brooks.’

1. “But now I am writing to your love of God about a matter which is for the
common benefit, and tends to the advancement of the right faith and the preservation
and extension of the holy churches of God in the East.”

2. “The men of the camp of Anasartha by their psephismata proposed various
persons in order that a bishop might be ordained for them; and I for my part deter-
mined that we would ordain the religious father Stephen, who is adorned with charac-
ter and with faith, and, if one may so say, with all the excellencies of virtues, bishop
for the aforesaid camp.”

3. “I have chosen the religious father Stephen as being one of those mentioned in
the psephisma by those who came from the aforesaid camp: and for us to introduce
someone else not included in the psephisma is impossible.”

Severus’ letter, which in its English version speaks of the “men of the camp of
Anasartha,” could easily lead the student of Arab-Byzantine relations into thinking
that these were federate Arabs who had asked Severus to consecrate a bishop for them.
It is quite unlikely that regular Roman soldiers in a camp would have asked Severus
to do this, but Arab federates might very well have. If so, the letter assumes consider-
able importance since it would refer not to the Ghassanids, about whom much is
known in the sixth century, but to other, lesser known Arab federate groups who
were encamped in the northern provinces of Oriens of which Syria Prima was one.

Exciting as it would be if “the men of the camp of Anasartha” turned out to be
Arab federates, it is not quite certain that they in fact were. Severus wrote in Greek,
but his letter has survived only in a Syriac version. The Syriac of this version is clearly
a translation of the phrase in Greek, and it presents problems to the translator, both
the anonymous one who turned the Greek into Syriac and Brooks who turned the
Syriac into English. The only course is to state what can be said for “the camp of
Anasartha” as an Arab federate camp and then to examine an alternative translation of
the Syriac phrase with reference to the Greek original or what the Greek original
might have been.

A
In support of, and in relation to, what Brooks implied by his translation of the
Syriac phrase as “the men of the camp of Anasartha” as Arab federates, the following
observations may be made.

! See letter 29 in The Sixth Book of the Select Letters of Severus, ed. and trans. E. W. Brooks
(London, 1903), vol. II, part I, pp. 90—92.
2 For the three passages, see ibid., p. 90, line 23—p. 91, line 11; p. 92, lines 5-9.
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1. The first question that arises is the identity of these Arab foederati encamped
near Anasartha. The city is associated with the Arabs and the Arab federates, and this
is attested in Greek inscriptions.’ An Arab federate group encamped outside the walls
of Anasartha is likely to have been the Taniikhids. This was one of their sites in the
fourth century, while the Salihids were in the south of Oriens. Also in the south were
the Ghassanids in this period, before the conferment of the supreme phylarchate on
the Ghassanid Arethas around 530.

2. Noteworthy is the fact that the troops in the camp want a bishop of their own
choosing from a list they have voted tor. This could be another indication of the Arab
and Tantkhid identity of this group. In the fourth century the federate queen Mavia
insisted that a holy man, Moses, be consecrated as her bishop,* and so do those of “the
camp of Anasartha” in the sixth century.

3. This raises the question of the ethnic background of the bishop: was he Arab?
The precedent set by Mavia in the fourth century could suggest that this became the
rule in choosing bishops for the Arab foederati. The election and consecration of the
Arab Theodore,’ the bishop of the Ghassanids around 540, who oversaw the entire
Arab area, gives further support for this view.

4. The candidate that Severus chose was a monk of the monastery of Mir-Isaac
named Stephen.® It is noteworthy that the convent was in an Arab area, since
Chalcidicé was a desert region inhabited by Arabs/Saracens. It does not necessarily
follow that their inmates were Arab, but it could argue that at least some of them
were Arab, and Stephen may have been one of them. Stephen is a non-Arab name, but
this does not necessarily argue against his Arabness, since the Arabs shed their Arabic
names when they became monks or priests. And some Arabs are attested as having
assumed the name Stephen, such as the hegoumenos of the lavra of St. Euthymius in the
Desert of Juda in the fifth century.’

To the above arguments may be added Severus’ attitude toward the choice of
Stephen. Severus was a capable ecclesiastical administrator who, as the first passage
indicates, was anxious to spread the Monophysite faith. As he wanted converts, he
must have thought it perfectly appropriate for winning over the federate Arabs of
Anasartha (who at the time were probably Chalcedonian) to accede to their wishes to
choose one from the list they had submitted; and as has already been argued, they
most probably would have wanted as their bishop an Arab who understood their
language.

The letter is valuable as it reflects the concern of Severus for spreading the
Monophysite faith in Oriens and elsewhere. He speaks of the “advancement of the

3 See BAFOC, 222-38.

4 Ibid., 152-58.

% On Theodore see below, 761-68, 850—60.

6 For the convent of St. Isaac of Gabbila, see W. Wright, Catalogae of Syriac Manuscripts
in the British Museum, part 1 (London, 1871), p. 756. For the bishopric of Gabbila in
Chalcidicé in Syria Prima, see Devreesse, PA, 165.

7 See BAFIC, 210—12. Stephen was also the name of the Arab architect of the monastery
of Mount Sinai during the reign of Justinian; he hailed from Arab Ayla; see below, 972 note
18.
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right faith and the preservation and extension of the holy churches of God in the
East.” In this case, the advancement and extension involve the Arabs, whom he was
able to convert to a large extent. The Ghassanids were won to the Monophysite faith
in this period, and he sent emissaries to Mundir, the Lakhmid king of Hira, to
attempt to convert him. And so it is within this framework of an active missionary
activity among the powerful Arab foederati in Oriens that his recommendations for the
consecration of Stephen among the Arab federates of Anasartha has to be viewed. His
insistence on the consecration of Stephen reveals the capable ecclesiastical hierarch
who knew the role that the foederati would play in the support of the Monophysite
church. So in the letter he appears understanding of their desire for a bishop of their
own choice and adamant in seeing their wishes carried out. The sequel justified his
expectation, since the federate Arabs turned out to be the pillars of strength of the
Monophysite movement throughout the sixth century.

B

In spite of the case that can be made for the Arab federate status of “the men of
the camp of Anasartha,” it is by no means certain that these were actually Arab
federates. A close look at the Syriac original, itself a translation from the Greek,
suggests an alternative and better translation of the phrase, which in Syriac reads
qastra Hanasarta.®

1. The first reaction to the translation of the phrase gastré Hanasarti by “the
camp of Anasartha” is that the translation reflects the genitive relation. But the Syriac
is not couched in any of the three ways in which the genitive relation is expressed in
Syriac: by the employment of the emphatic state with the preposition 4; by the em-
ployment of the construct state; and by the employment of both the possessive pro-
nominal suffix and the preposition 4. So the translation of the Syriac phrase should
not have been expressed through the genitive relation, “the camp of Anasartha.™

2. Then there is the term “camp.” The Syriac original has gastrd, and this not-
mally means in Syriac not camp but fortified place; it is a Latinism in Greek and a
Graecism in Syriac. This raises the question of what the original Greek of Severus was
and what he meant by it. There are two possibilities: he could have used it in the
normal sense of a fortified place or as a Latin term, aastra, which indeed means
“camp.” Severus knew Latin, since he studied it in Alexandria, and later in Beirut he
studied law, the language of which was Latin. The chances are that he used it not in
the Latin sense of “camp” but in the new sense the term had acquired after its natural-
ization in Byzantine Greek—fortress, fortified place.

3. Further confirmation of this derives from the syntax of the phrase. The Syriac
translator surely must have known the two languages as well. As he did nof use one of
the three ways of expressing the genitive relation, the conclusion is inevitable that

8 The vocalization of Hanasarta is uncertain; its orthography in Arabic is Khunasirat.

? For the phrase in Syriac, see Select Letters of Severus, ed. Brooks, vol. I, part I (London,
1902), p. 101, line 15.

10 That gastrd is a Graecism (xGotpa) in the letter is noted by Brooks, op. cit., vol. II,
part I, p. 91 note 1, who also noted others, such as psephismata.
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“Anasartha,” which comes after gastrd, is not the genitive but is simply in apposition
to it, and the phrase should be translated “the gastrd, the fortress Anasartha,” identi-
fying the gastrad with the town.

4. Objections to the identification of gastré with Anasartha could disappear when
it is realized that Anasartha was on the /imes and so was a fortress, a fortified place,
and as a town on the /imes, was referred to as such. A passage in Malalas indeed
describes Anasartha as 10 AvaoagBov xé&otgov. "

5. Another objection may be the use of the plural or what seems to be plural,
namely, Syriac gastra (the Greek plural xdotpo) and not singular gastrin (Greek sin-
gular #@otpov), the term that describes Anasartha in Malalas. But although it trans-
literates plural ®Gotpa, Syriac gasira is considered a grammatical singular. Besides,
syntax is decisive. Since what is involved is not the genitive relation but apposition,
gastré must be construed as singular, the same as the grammatical singular “Ana-
sartha.” The notion of apposition also disposes of the possibility, or makes it very
remote, that gastrd transliterates Latin castrz, plural in form but singular in meaning,
“camp,” since Anasartha is not a camp (castra) but a fortified city, xéotgov.

6. A final objection may be that Stephen as the bishop of Anasartha does not
appear in the list of Monophysite bishops exiled by Justin in 519. This could argue
that he was not a bishop of the city of Anasartha but of the Arab federate camp,
which was not deemed important enough to be mentioned in the list of exiled
bishops, as was John of Evaria, who was the bishop of the Ghassinids, the dominant
Arab federate group, and who was indeed mentioned. "

The omission is noteworthy but does not necessarily invalidate the foregoing
reasoning, which rests on the correct transliteration of the language of the crucial
Syriac phrase. Stephen was only recommended for consecration as bishop; he may not
have actually attained the episcopal dignity, or he may have succumbed to the solic-
itations of the Chalcedonians and reconverted to their position; hence his non-inclu-
sion in the list of exiled Monophysite bishops. And there is the possibility that the
list of exiled bishops as preserved in later Syriac sources is not complete.

This actempt to recover the precise Greek phrase that Severus used involving
Anasartha in his letter has yielded a conclusion that does not square well with Brooks’
translation of the Syriac phrase as “the camp of Anasartha,” with all that such a
translation implies. Important as it is to recover data on the ecclesiastical history of
the Arab foederati in the sixth century, especially when they are non-Ghassanids, it is
necessary to guard against misapprehension of the phrase in the English version. Thus
one must exclude it as evidence for Arab federate Christianity in the environs
of Anasartha in Syria Prima in the early part of the sixth century. Federate Chris-
tianity may have existed there at that time, but if so, it must rest on other evi-
dence.”

1 Quoted by Honigmann, in “Studien zur Notitia Antiochena,” BZ 25 (1925), 76.

12 Eor the list and for John of Evaria (Huwwarin), see below, 717-18.

3 A. Voobus completely misunderstood the phrase and wrote of gastra as if it was parem-
bole; see his History of Asceticism in the Syrian Orient, 111, CSCO 500, Subsidia 81 (Louvain,
1988), 235.
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The Reign of Justin I (518-527)

he reign of Justin I opens the first phase of the middle period, the long
T period of tensions and confrontations that characterized Ghassanid-Byzan-
tine relations, the foundations of which had been laid in the reign of Ana-
stasius when the Ghassanids were won over to Monophysitism. The eccle-
siastical history of the reign will be briefly outlined in order to serve as a
backdrop for the detailed study of the Arab involvement.

The ruling dynasty, that of Justin, returns Byzantium to the Chalcedo-
nian fold and to reunion with Rome. This results in disunity in the Orient
and the disestablishment of the Monophysite church after the short honey-
moon during the last five years of Anastasius’ reign. The Orient is convulsed
by a thorough overhauling of the hierarchy on both the patriarchal and episcopal
levels. A second revolution, similar to that effected by Anastasius ca. 510, now
takes place. The three Monophysite patriarchs of Oriens and also of Constantino-
ple are dethroned, and Chalcedonians are consecrated and installed. The Mono-
physite bishops of Oriens are expelled and sent into exile. The emperor issues
edicts against the heretics, at the beginning and the end of his reign, during
which the persecution of the Monophysites goes through various stages.'

Thus the world of the Monophysites collapses over their heads. The
Ghassanids, staunch supporters of the movement, are adversely affected, as
repercussions of the sharp turn in imperial ecclesiastical policy are felt both
within the empire, by the Ghassanids, and by various other communities
without. The entire Near East is affected by it. These repercussions and the
extraordinary events to which they led have been treated in articles published
in various journals.” Hence the present chapter will concentrate on (1) bring-

! The most detailed account of the ecclesiastical policy of the reign of Justin may be found
in two works: A. Vasiliev, Justin the First (Cambridge, Mass., 1950), and Isrun Engelhardt,
Mission und Politik in Byzanz (Munich, 1974). Both are excellent works for the reign in general.
This chapter, which concentrates on the Arab involvement, supplements what these two works
say on the religious profile of Justin's reign. Engelhardt also treats the ecclesiastical policy of
Justinian; Chapter XI in the present volume will supplement Mission und Politik for that reign,
t00.

% The present writer has paid special attention to these repercussions and events in articles

collected in Byzantium and the Semitic Orient before the Rise of Islam (London, 1988).
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ing together what has been separated, in a brief presentation; (2) treating
what has not been previously treated in detail; (3) and including repercussions
outside the empire, in Arabia and the middle Euphrates region.

I. WITHIN THE EMPIRE

The principal problem for investigation is the withdrawal of the strongly
Monophysite Ghassanids from the service of Byzantium. This has been argued
for in detail in Chapter II of this volume, where important new documents
have been laid under contribution. There remains the examination of the
problems relevant to ecclesiastical history, and the first is that of their bishop,
whether or not he was John of Evaria, mentioned in the list of bishops exiled
by Justin.

The Ghassanids: John, Bishop of Evaria

In the list of Monophysite bishops exiled in 519, one year after Justin I
came to power,’ there is reference to a bishop of the Arabs of Huwwarin
(Evaria), who was exiled and died in exile in Harlan in the region of Damas-
cus: “Et Ioannes episcopus Zizae Arabum t®v Hawarin exiit et mortuus est in
exilio Harlan in agro Damasceno.” References to the same bishop occur in the
chronicles of Dionysius of Tell-Mahre® and of Michael the Syrian.® The quota-
tion presents a textual problem concerning the word Zizae as a description of
these Arabs.

J. B. Chabot, in his Latin translation just quoted and in his note on the
same, takes Zizae as an adjective from Ziza which he describes, quoting
Prolemy, as “Ziza urbs in Arabia Petraea.” On this basis he interprets “Zizae
Arabum t@®v Hawarin” as “Zizaeorem Arabum qui sunt in Hawarin.” E. Ho-
nigmann accepts the derivation from Ziza and adds that these Arabs were
perhaps a detachment that had been previously stationed at Ziza in the pro-
vince of Arabia.” These interpretations cannot be accepted. There is no evi-
dence whatsoever that an Arab detachment was stationed at Ziza, and the

3 For the list of the exiled Monophysite bishops in 519, see Honigmann, Evégues, 145-48;
for the expulsion of the Monophysite bishops and the ecclesiastical policy of Justin, see Vasiliev,
Justin, 225-29, 232-53.

4 Chronicon ad Annum Domini 846 pertinens, CSCO, Scriptores Syri, ser. 3, vol. 4 (2) (Paris,
1903), Chronica Minora, versio 4, ed. J. B. Chabot, p. 172. Huwwirin rather than Hawarin is
the accepted orthography of the toponym in the Arabic sources.

3 Chronicon Anonymum Pseudo-Dionysianum vulgo dictum, CSCO, Scriptores Syri, ser. 3, vol.
2, textus, ed. J. B. Chabot (Louvain, 1933), p. 18: the chronicle merely says “and John of
Hawarin, and he died in exile.”

S Chronigue, ed. J. B. Chabot (Paris, 1901), II, text, p. 267, trans. p. 172: “Jean, évéque
des moines arabes de Hawarin.” This bishop, John of Evaria, has been discussed previously in
this volume but not in an ecclesiastical context; see BASIC 1.1, 458.

7 Honigmann, E'w‘};ye.r, 98-99, 147.
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Notitia Dignitatum which Honigmann refers to has, not the Arabs stationed
there, but, as he himself notes, the “Equites Dalmatae Illyriciani.” Even if an
Arab detachment had been stationed at Ziza, it is impossible that that detach-
ment would have acquired the adjective Zizae to describe itself, and that the
adjective persisted and continued to be applied to it after it had left Ziza and
settled in Hawarin. The Arabs in the Notitia are referred to as Arabes or
Saraceni, sometimes more narrowly defined with reference to their tribal affil-
iations such as Thamudeni and not to the place where they were stationed.®
Grammatically, too, Zizae should come after Arabum if it were a restrictive
adjective from Ziza, and not before it, as it does in the text. In his French
translation of the Chronicle of Michael the Syrian, where the same reference to
this bishop of the Arabs occurs, Chabot translates Zizae as “moines,” clearly
after emending Zizae into dayraye. This is transcriptionally probable, but
monasteries were not normally administered by bishops; it is possible, how-
ever, that in this case the monastery was.

A third possibility must be entertained: that these Arabs over whom
John was bishop could have been foederati. The word Tayayé is the regular
word used by Syriac authors, the equivalent of Saraceni/Saracenoi of the Byzan-
tine writers, Latin and Greek, and its employment in the Syriac text indicates
that the Arabs in question were not cives, the Rhomaic Arabes, but the
Joederati. The possibility that these Arabs were foederati makes possible a return
to Zizae for an emendation. Since the foederati received a subsidy from Byzan-
tium, it is natural to look for a word that describes them in this capacity and
that is transcriptionally possible. The technical term for the subsidy was an-
nona, but the Syriac writers were not careful and their Graecisms are often
inaccurate. There is a word that expressed the same meaning as annona,
namely diariz, a Latin technical term that passed into Greek too, and was
used in the sense of stzipendium in the Novels’ and, what is more, was used by
the Syriac writers'” who simply transliterated it. The word Zizae of the Syriac
text could thus be diarayé, a plural of an adjective formed from diaria, mean-
ing “those who receive the diaria.” The question now arises as to who these
foederati were of whom John was bishop? Were they Ghassanids or some other

Arab group of foederati?

8 See Notitia Dignitatum, ed. O. Seeck (Berlin, 1876), 59, 68, 81. Thamudeni appears on
p. 59; sometimes an adjectival form such as I/lyriciani appears in the Notitia, but the place from
which they derive is usually well known or important, not like Ziza, which is a small and
relatively insignificant locality.

9 For diaria as a Graecism, see Justinian’s Novellae, 126, cap. 16: £vdg éviawtoi dudgua p)
tnepParvoioas.

1% It occurs in Jacob of Edessa and in John of Ephesus but was misunderstood by their
translators; see S. Frankel, ZDMG 53 (1899), 534, where he argues that in both these authors,
Brooks and Cureton read the word as dayrdyé (“monks”), while it is in fact the Greek didpiov.
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1. The Arabs whose Monophysite bishop was exiled were naturally
Monophysites, and the Ghassanids immediately come to mind as the most
natural candidates for the identification of this Arab federate group with
them." Surely the Ghassanids had a bishop, and since this is the only bishop
of the federate Arabs mentioned in the list, the natural presumption is that he
was their bishop. Later in the century, the Ghassanids had a bishop by the
same name, the one who came after Theodore. But more important is the fact
that this particular place, Huwwarin, is associated with the Ghassanids in a
most relevant context. Around 580 the Ghassanid king Mundir, before he was
entrapped and captured, was invited to come to Huwwarin for the dedication
of a church there. The invitation extended to Mundir by the authorities natu-
rally implies that the Ghassanid king had some special interest in Huwwarin,
if the invitation extended to him was to seem appropriate and not sound
suspicious. So it is possible that the attractiveness of Huwwarin for Mundir
derived from the fact that Evaria may have been or become the see of the
Ghassanid bishop and Mundir was invited to attend the dedication of a church
in a town that especially interested him."

2. Of the many Notitiae Episcopatuum, that for Antioch, the Notitia Anti-
ochena, is relevant to this discussion.” That document, composed about 570,
lists eleven bishoprics of Phoenicia Libanensis under the metropolitan of Da-
mascus, among which it lists the “bishopric of Evaria” and the “bishopric of
the Saracens.”' Honigmann has argued cogently that the bishopric of Evaria
has to be distinguished from that of the bishopric of the Saracens, although
his views on Ziza which come in the short account of the exiled bishop, John,
have been rejected. The list of bishoprics for Phoenicia Libanensis thus reveals
that the Arab federates had two bishoprics there: the one explicitly described
as such, and that of Evaria, which, it has been argued, was most probably the
Ghassanid. The Arabs that were described in the list as “Saracens” for the
other bishopric must have been another group of federates, and it has been
suggested” that they most probably were the Salihids of the fifth century,
whose bishop Eustathius participated in the Council of Chalcedon in 451.

3. That the bishopric of the Ghassanids had its see in Evaria/Huwwarin
in Phoenicia Libanensis rather than in Arabia may seem surprising. The head-
quarters of the Ghassanids was the Provincia Arabia, but they were already in
this period in Palaestina Secunda, since Jabala was found at Jabiya by Simeon

"' Much more than the Tantkhids and the Salihids of the two previous centuries, who
presumably were Chalcedonians, and who were hardly visible in the 6th century, having been
overshadowed by the Monophysite Ghassanids.

12 Oq all this, see BASIC 1.1, 456-61.

13 See E. Honigmann, “Studien zur Notitia Antiochena,” BZ 25 (1925), 60—88.

4 Honigmann, évéqﬂei, 98-100.
13 See BAFIC, 219-22, on Eustathius.
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of Béth-Arsham around 520, and so it is possible that their phylarchal and
federate presence also extended to the neighboring province, Phoenicia Li-
banensis, even before their power was extended around 530 over the whole
limitrophe up to the Euphrates. Little has survived in the sources on their
exact whereabouts in this period, and so a Ghassanid bishopric in Evaria, in
neighboring Phoenicia Libanensis, should not be cause for surprise. Their
power might very well have extended to this province in which apparently
there was room for more than one phylarchal presence. Perhaps this Evaria was
where the Ghassanid bishop moved™ in 518/19, when the course of events for
the Monophysites received so much acceleration and confusion with the advent
of the Chalcedonian house of Justin. The town must have had a special attrac-
tion for the Ghassanid Arabs since it remained associated with them around
580 when Mundir was invited to attend a dedication ceremony there, and in
early Islamic times it was associated with the Arab dynasty of the Umayyads
who occupied many of the Ghassanid sites of the pre-Islamic period."

4. The Ghassanids certainly had a bishop of their own, and this is conso-
nant with the history of Arab federate groups such as those of Mavia in the
fourth century and of Amorkesos of the fifth. If John turns out to be their
bishop, which is more than likely, then the list of exiled bishops would pro-
vide the student of Ghassanid history with his name, John.

Another question arises concerning this bishop: was he ethnically an
Arab? Again in conformity with past federate history, chances are that he was
not only a bishop for the Arabs but also an Arab himself. His Arabness would
be proven if he turned out to be the addressee of the letter written by Philo-
xenus, since the letter is addressed to “John, the Arab.”" Another question
arises as to the name of the bishop—John. The Ghassanids and the Arab
federates were aware of their Arabness and had a strong sense of Arab identity,
reflected inter alia in their assumption of strictly Arab names. But John was
not a soldier; he was an ecclesiastic who naturally assumed on his consecration
the biblical and Christian name John."”

The short notice on John in the list of exiled bishops is also informative
on his last days. According to the list, he died in Harlan,” in the same

16 As reflected in the novel on Phoenicia with its references to phylarchs in the plural; see
BASIC 1.1, 198-99.

"7 It was one of the favorite resorts of the Umayyad caliph Yazid; see Huwwarin, EI%, III,
645.

18 See above, 702—6.

19 Cf. what was said of one of Mundir’s entourage around 580, who assumed the name
Sergius, in BASIC 1.1, 539-40.

20 Harlan was an episcopal see; cf. Honigmann, Evégues, 98—100. For its localization in
Phoenicia Libanensis, see the discussion in Dussaud, Topographie, 302—3, which states that it
was one of the haunts of the Umayyads in Islamic times; so Harlan becomes another locality in
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province in which his episcopal see was located, in the region of Damascus.
Apparently he moved from Evaria to Harlan, stripped of his bishopric,” and
evidently he died during the reign of Justin before Justinian, early in his
reign, allowed the exiles to return.

Although in the sixth century the Ghassanids were the protectors and
promoters of Monophysitism in Oriens, little is known about the history of
their ecclesia and its organization. Around 540, when Theodore was appointed
their bishop, more becomes known about them. But in this early period, the
sources are silent, hence this reference to John, as bishop of the Arabs in
Evaria, is of considerable importance. Although it is not absolutely certain
that he was the bishop of the Ghassanids, there is a high degree of probability
that he was. If so, the assignment of the Ghassanid bishop to a town such as
Evaria is a matter of some importance in the journey of the Ghassanids as an
integrated group in the Byzantine system, which contrasts with the status of
previous foederati.

In the conciliar lists of Chalcedon and in the Letter of Leo, Eustathius
the Arab bishop is not assigned to any particular see,” but the Ghassanid
bishop John is assigned to Evaria. This argues that there was a development in
Arab ecclesiastical organization. Evaria was one of the eleven episcopal sees
under the jurisdiction of the metropolitan of Damascus in Phoenicia Liba-
nensis. It is known to have had a bishop named Thomas who was a contempo-
rary of Eustathius and signed both the Chalcedonian definition and the Letter
of Leo.” After 458 there is no mention of Evaria in the ecclesiastical history of
the Orient as the see of a bishop until 519 when it is assigned or is described
as the see of the Arab bishop John. As it is impossible to have two bishops in
the same city, especially a small place like Evaria, and as no one else is men-
tioned as the bishop of Evaria in the sixth century, it is reasonable to conclude
that Evaria became the episcopal see of the Arab Ghassanid bishop in the
Orient. This represents an advance in the ecclesiastical history of the Arab
Joederati in the Orient: while in the fifth century the bishop of Salih, Eusta-
thius, had no fixed see assigned to him, the Ghassanid bishop in the sixth
century had Evaria assigned to him during the reign of Anastasius, until at
least 519. An echo of a Ghassanid connection with Evaria may be detected in
the meeting between Mundir, the Ghassanid king, and Magnus late in the

which to seek the Ghassinid-Umayyad relationship. For this theme, see the present writer in
“Ghassanid and Umayyad Structures: A Case of Byzance aprés Byzance,” in La Syrie de Byzance a
Plslam, Institut Francais de Damas (Damascus, 1992), 299-307.

2! Honigmann (Evégues, 99—100) thinks that he either took refuge ac Harlan or was de-
tained there by its bishop, who was a Chalcedonian, but this is pure guesswork.

22 See BAFIC, 219-22.

23 For Thomas, see Devreesse, PA, 205; A. Musil, Palmyrena (New York, 1928), 37 note



722 ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY

reign of Tiberius, as has already been noted. The Ghassanid bishop at Evaria
presumably had under his jurisdiction all the other Ghassanid ecclesiastics—
priests and deacons who ministered to the Ghassanids in Oriens.

The association of the Ghassanids ecclesiastically with a town such as
Evaria is of some relevance to the question of whether or not towns in Oriens
were assigned to them, a question that will be raised again in relation to
bishop Theodore around 540, and also to their relation as foederati to Bostra
itself, the capital of the Provincia Arabia.

The Lakhmids: Mundir and Christianity

If Jabala and his Ghassanids were not in evidence within Oriens, Mundir
and his Lakhmids were. The latter’s raids ranged far and wide along the Ori-
ental /imes, but what is relevant for ecclesiastical history is an examination of
his raids on the Christian establishment in Oriens, especially his notorious
abduction of four hundred nuns or virgins from the congregation of the
church of the Apostle Thomas,* his massacring them and offering them as a
sacrifice to the pagan goddess al-‘Uzza (“the most powerful”), the Arabian
Aphrodite, in 527. He was to repeat this barbarity later in his career when he
captured the son of his Ghassanid adversary, Arethas, in the 540s and sacri-
ficed him to the same goddess.” These barbarities have attracted the attention
of anthropologists and historians of religion who were especially interested in
them as evidence for the survival of human sacrifice among the pre-Islamic
Arabs.? But Mundir’s anti-Christian outbursts are even more important to the
student of Arab-Byzantine relations, both secular and ecclesiastical, and the
two are interrelated. An examination of what was involved in these barbarities
conduces to a better understanding of Byzantine-Lakhmid relations. This has
been lightly touched upon in Chapter I on the reign of Anastasius,” but it
deserves a full treatment since it elucidates some important aspects of Arab-
Byzantine relations in the reign of Justin.

Mundir's barbarity and anti-Christian outbursts admit of various inter-
pretations, the complexity of which may be stated as follows.

1. Personal. Mundir was the son of that Nu‘man who celebrated his
reign over Hira by many blasphemies and violations of Christian shrines. So
he was born into a family that had been known for its hostility to Chris-
tianity; the death of his father has been attributed, at least in pious thought,

24 Zacharia, HE, versio, p. 53, lines 11-17.

%> See BASIC 1.1, 238.

26 For instance, J. Henninger, “Menschenopfer bei den Arabern,” Anthropos (1958), 734—
38. The older works of leading Orientalists on Arabian paganism are still valuable, such as J.
Wellhausen, Reste Arabischen Heideniums (repr. Berlin-Leipzig, 1927), and Noldeke's penetrating
article on the religions of the ancient Arabs in the Encyclopedia of Religion and Etbics, ed J.
Hastings (New York, 1928), 1, 65973, especially pp. 665, 669.

%7 See above, 708-9.
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to a heated altercation he had with a Christian chief in his army, which made
his wound swell and as a result of which he died.”® Mundir remembered all
this and imbibed hostility toward Christianity from his father.

2. Dynastic. With the exception of Imru’ al-Qays and Nu‘man, the
Lakhmid kings of the fourth and fifth centuries respectively, the dynasty was
solidly pagan. Paganism among the Lakhmids was somewhat institutional-
ized, and the reign of Mundir became even more so with the various idols in
Hira that were associated with the dynasty, such as the two idols called al-
Ghariyyan.” Furthermore, as the ruler of Hira, he had under him an army of
Arabs from northeastern Arabia, which in spite of some Christian and Jewish
elements in it, must have been fairly pagan. The Lakhmids must have decided
that they looked stronger as leaders of a pagan army if they shared its paga-
nism than led it as Christian converts.

3. Mundir’s style in warfare was that of a Ghazi, a raider of the frontier
or the /imes, which offered him spacious opportunities for looting. Christian
places of worship, with their treasures, had great drawing power for the ra-
pacious bird of prey that the Lakhmid king of Hira undoubtedly was. Conver-
sion to Christianity would have terminated his career as raider of the Christian
churches and monasteries.

Perhaps even more important than all these personal and dynastic consid-
erations were ones that pertain to Persia, both its ruling dynasty, the Sasa-
nids, and to its religious class, the Magi.

1. The Magi were the guardians of the official religion of the Persian
state, namely, Zoroastrianism. This was an exclusive, non-proselytizing reli-
gion that looked askance at, and was intolerant of, the claims of Christianity
in Persia since the latter was a religion with universalistic claims and a mis-
sion to convert the oikoumene to its doctrines. Hence the strong opposition of
the Magi to Christianity, and their prestige and power in Persian society were
great, especially with the Sasanid king.

2. The Sasanids. The Persian kings may or may not have been religious
rulers, but Christianity in the fourth century became an especially unaccept-
able faith to be spread in Persia, because after the conversion of Constantine it
became the religion of the secular enemy that had imperialistic claims in the
East and was now supported by a religion that, too, had universalistic claims,
and whose cross had become the Byzantine military emblem. Hence all Chris-
tians in Persia became suspect as a fifth column whose sympathies were with
the enemy, Byzantium.” Mundir’s paganism was acceptable to Ctesiphon but
not his Christianity.

28 On Nu‘min see BASIC 1.1, 17-18.

?? See Rothstein, DLH, 140—41. On the possibility that Muharriq was also a Lakhmid
pagan god, see ibid., 142.

30 gee A. Christensen, L'Iran sous les Sassanides (Copenhagen, 1944), 267—68.
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3. The Sasanids were particularly opposed to the conversion of the
Lakhmid dynasts and the takeover of Hira by Christianity. Hira was within
striking distance of Ctesiphon, and the Arabs of Hira could and did play a
decisive role in determining the course of events in Sasanid history.?' A Chris-
tian king in Hira was intolerable.

The Lakhmid principality happened to be located geographically in a
sensitive area, vital for the safety of the empire. It was Persia’s western flank
in its struggle with Byzantium. A Christian king in Hira would be amenable
to Byzantine influence after Christianity had become Byzantium’s state reli-
gion.” The conversion of the Lakhmid ruler of Hira to Christianity would
have given this “dangerous” religion in Persia the one thing it lacked—official
protection and patronage.”

Mundir must have been aware of this Sasanid attitude toward Chris-
tianity and the manner in which the Sasanid overlord would have viewed his
conversion to that religion.*

4. Mundir’s barbarities toward the four hundred nuns/virgins took place
during the reign of Kawad in the 520s. So the understanding of the meaning
of this barbarity—if it had any meaning to it—will have to be related to his
relations with Kawad and the events of that decade. Mundir’s barbarity is
likely to have been designed as an expression of loyalty toward Kawad.

It will be remembered that Mundir, in the second decade of this century
or during the reign of Anastasius, had dabbled with Christianity. Further-
more, he married a Christian Kindite princess, daughter of the Kindite king,

3! In the Sth century, the succession of Vahram to the throne was secured by the troops of
a Lakhmid king, another Mundir I; see Rothstein, DLH, 68—69; Christensen, L'Iran, 274—75.
Nu‘min III stood by Chosroes against Vahram, late in the 6th century; Rothstein, DLH, 112.

32 An instructive parallel is Persia’s sensitivity to Christianity in Armenia and Arzanene
and the quick measures Yazdgard II took to solve the problem in a way satisfactory to Persian
political and military interests; see Christensen, L'Iran, 284—89. Persian sensitivity to any
changes in their western provinces which might have political and military implications is
understandable. While the Byzantine capital, Constantinople, was far from the Roman-Persian
frontier, the Persian capital, Cresiphon, was within striking distance of that frontier. The
Persians could threaten Byzantium'’s eastern provinces, but the Byzantines could threaten the
Persian capital itself. In addition, the province in which one of the three fire-temples, Ad-
hur-Gushnasp, was located was also a western province, Atropatene, which, too, was within
striking distance of the Byzantine forces stationed at the frontier. In negotiating or fighting
with the Persians, the Byzantines probably did not recognize that Persian sensitivity to its
western frontier was genuine and justified.

*> It was for the same reason that the Persian king was opposed to the conversion of the
kings of the Caucasian region, which also would have meant amenability to Byzantine influ-
ence; cf. the episode of the Lazic king, Tzath, involving Justin I and the latter’s correspondence
with Kawad; Malalas, Chronographia (Bonn ed.), 412—14.

34 The predicament of the Lakhmids in this respect was most explicitly stated by one of
their Sth-century kings, Nu‘man; for what he confided to Antiochus, the dux of Phoenicia
Libanensis, see BAFIC, 163 note 4.
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Arethas. Finally, Severus, the patriarch in Byzantine Antioch, sent him a
mission to convert him to Monophysitism.” All this must have made the
Lakhmid king suspect in the eyes of a suspicious king of kings. As has been
stated before, Mundir’s flirtation with Christianity did not last long, and he
reappears in the 520s as the perfect pagan. Hence his barbarity may be partly
construed not so much as anti-Christian as an attempt to prove to Kawad that
he was cured of all Christian sympathies and was providing ample evidence for
his recantation.

This barbarity may also be related to the events of the 520s when Kawad
himself dabbled with Mazdakism, asked Mundir to embrace it, and when the
latter refused, expelled him from Hira and installed Arethas the Kindite as its
ruler for a few years, the years of Kinda’s interregnum in Hira.* Immediately
after 527 Mundir was restored. His barbarity may thus be related to his recon-
ciliation with Kawad after the estrangement, and nothing could have better
commended Mundir to Sasanid official favor than a barbarity against the
Christian religion, proof of his loyalty to his overlord.

5. In addition to being opposed to a takeover of Hira by Christianity, for
the reasons explored above, Kawad was particularly opposed to the conversion
of Mundir himself, who turned out to be his most valuable ally in the war
with Byzantium. Anything that might affect the efficiency of Mundir’s mili-
tary effort in the conflict with Byzantium would be unacceptable, and Chris-
tianity could do just that. The efficient prosecution of the war against the
Byzantines depended, among other things, on a clearly defined system of
opposition between the two states in which the opposition between
Zoroastrianism and Christianity was a part. Anything that blurred the distinc-
tion and the edge of the religious opposition would tend to interfere with the
military quality of the offensive against Byzantium. On two occasions, once
during the reign of Mundir and another during the reign of his father,
Nu‘'man, Christians in the army of the Lakhmids thwarted or tried to thwart
the military designs of their king when their Christian sentiments were
touched.” The Persian kings themselves could remember the part played by
the Christian elements in their armies.”

In addition to Mundir’s relation to his Sasanid overlord, there were fac-
tors that were not related to Persia but operated with Mundir in connection
with his anti-Christian outbursts. Mundir was a contemporary and possibly

35 On this see above, 706—9.

3 See BASIC 1.1, 39, 41.

37 In 502 before Nu‘min’s attack on Edessa and later when the letter of the South Arabian
king arrived during the conference of Ramla.

3 On the experiences of Yazdgard with the Christian element in his army during the
campaign against the Tchdls, see Christensen, L'Iran, 289.
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also a witness of the persecutions of the Christians of South Arabia, especially
those of the city of Najran, the great Christian center there. Even during the
conference of Ramla, a letter reached him from the dynast of South Arabia,
the Himyarite king Yusuf, informing him of the massacre of Christians in his
realm and asking him to do likewise.” Mundir was shrewd enough not to
comply, but the events in South Arabia are relevant for recreating the atmo-
sphere of anti-Christian sentiments in Arabia at the time in which Mundir
lived. Whether the massacre of the four hundred nuns/virgins was related to
those in South Arabia is not entirely clear.

The inveterate enmity that existed between the Lakhmids and the
Ghassanids is well known, especially between Mundir and his contemporary,
the Ghassanid Arethas. The former was a rabid pagan; the latter a fervent
Christian. The barbarity of Mundir could derive partly from this, especially
his sacrifice of the son of Arethas to al-"Uzza.” In so doing, Mundir carried
his enmity toward Arethas to the religious sphere. By sacrificing his adver-
sary’s son to the pagan goddess, Mundir could hurt Arethas’ religious sensi-
bilities and, what is more, could demonstrate that his own pagan god had
triumphed over the God of his Christian adversary.

II. OUTSIDE THE LIMES

The disestablishment of Monophysitism within the Byzantine Empire and the
subsequent persecutions of its clerics forced the movement to seek refuge out-
side imperial limits. In so doing it scored new victories that offset its losses
within Oriens. Its victories were spectacular in the area of the Red Sea which,
during this reign and that of Justinian,” became a Monophysite lake. So
paradoxically, it was Justin’s ecclesiastical policy that led to this extraordinary
Monophysite expansion in this Afro-Asian region.

The Arab areas affected by this Monophysite mission outside the /imes
were mainly three: (1) Hijaz in western Arabia; (2) Hira of the Lakhmids, on
the middle Euphrates; (3) and South Arabia. The first, to which, it has been
argued, the Ghassanids most probably withdrew, has been analyzed in Chap-
ter I1.*? Their presence in Hijaz must have conduced to the spread of Mono-
physitism in that region during the reign of Justin. What needs a slightly
more detailed treatment is the discussion of the other two areas that were

affected: Lakhmid Hira and South Arabia.

3 On these events in South Arabia, see Martyrs, passim; on Yisuf's letters to Mundir, see
ibid., 114-22, 128-31.

0 Procopius, History, ILxxviii. 13.

41 When Nubia was Christianized by the Monophysite missionary Julian, thus uniting
Egypt and Ethiopia, already won to the Monophysite cause; see Frend, Rise, 287-303.

42 See BASIC 1.1, 38-39.
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Hira and Ramla

If the position of the Monophysites was untenable in Byzantium, it was
equally so in Sasanid Persia where, since the Council of Seleucia in 488,
Nestorianism had been established as the acceptable form of Christianity. The
Nestorians and the Monophysites were inveterate enemies. Yet at the confer-
ence of Ramla, ca. 520, the Monophysites were represented. Technically that
conference was held for negotiating the return of two Roman soldiers that
Mundir had captured in one of his raids against Oriens. The Byzantine ambas-
sador was Abraham, a veteran diplomat whose family had served Byzantium
before in the reign of Anastasius. Among other things, the conference was
remarkable for the number of ecclesiastics that took part in it.® What is
relevant here is to follow the fortunes of Monophysitism at this conference.

Simeon of Béth-Arsham, the celebrated Monophysite bishop, obviously
represented the Monophysites in Persia at the conference. From his letter
comes the intelligence that Abraham himself, the ambassador of Justin to
Mundir, was either a Monophysite at heart or a crypto-Monophysite.* The
ambassador whom the last Christian king of South Arabia had sent to Mundir,
before his reign was terminated by Yasuf of South Arabia, must also have
been a Monophysite since that was the doctrinal persuasion of that country.
What is most remarkable is that one of the courtiers or friends of Mundir
himself was a Monophysite by the name of Hajjaj, the Angaios of the Mar-
tyrium Avethae.”

The Chronicle of Sa'ard states that in the theological dispute between
Shilas, the Nestorian Catholicus, and the Monophysites who had fled from
Byzantium, Hajjaj helped the Monophysites.* The implication of the descrip-
tion of Hajjaj is that Monophysitism still maintained some presence even at
the Lakhmid court in Hira. This ties in well with the efforts of Philoxenus
and Severus, the two Monophysite ecclesiastics during the reign of Anastasius,
to win over the rulers of Hira to Monophysitism.*

43 This conference has been treated in great detail by the presenc writer in “Byzantino-
arabica: The Conference of Ramla, A.D. 524" JNES 33 (1964), 115-31 (hereafter “Ramla”). For
the resetting of its chronology, see the section on the conference, BASIC 1.1, 40-42. Ramla,
according to the letter of Simeon of Béth-Arsham, was at a distance of ten days journey south-
east of Hira; see “Ramla,” 121 note 26.

4 Ibid., 119 note 23.

% Ibid., 117-18.

% Ibid., 117, where it was said that he was either a Monophysite or a Dyophysite; after a
reexamination of the text of the Chronicle, 1 am now inclined to think he was definitely a
Mon(iphysire.

7 The presence of a Monophysite at the court of Mundir could also explain why the
Christian king of South Arabia had sent an ambassador to Mundir, possibly concerning the
condition of the Monophysites in Hira. Hajjaj may have been known in South Arabia, and
would have helped their cause with Mundir.
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That the Monophysites were not altogether unwelcome in Hira could
derive support from another statement in the Chronicle of Sa‘ard, that the
Monophysites of Byzantium expelled by Justin found their way to Hira where,
however, they did not tarry long.*” That a Christian group, expelled from
Byzantium, could make its way to a city whose ruler was known for his anti-
Christian outbursts seems surprising, but not when it is recalled that the
Monophysites maintained some presence in Persia, to the point of having a
friend at the court of Mundir himself.”

More important than the Monophysite presence in Hira is what the
Chronicle says on the specific theological cast of these Monophysites who
flocked to Hira after being expelled by Justin, namely, that they were fol-
lowers of Julian the Phantasiast.’® The Chronicle indicates that after their short
stay in Hira where they were not accepted, they proceeded to Najrain where
they sowed the seeds of Julianism, a matter of some importance to under-
standing the history of Christianity in South Arabia and of the various Chris-
tian confessions that prevailed in that region.

South Arabia

While the Monophysites were being persecuted within the empire in the
reign of Justin, they were also persecuted in South Arabia and, what is more,
literally massacred, as the result of a change in the religious orientation of the
Himyarite kingdom of South Arabia. Simeon of Béth-Arsham heard the news
accidentally while he was at the conference of Ramla, and he spread the word
in the Christian Orient and tried to organize a crusade against South Arabia
for the relief of its Christians. This extraordinary course of events led to a joint
Ethiopian-Byzantine expedition, and the outcome was a complete victory that
returned South Arabia to the Christian fold.” The following observations may
be made on the victory scored by Monophysitism in South Arabia.’

48 See Histoire Nestorienne, 143—44.

% In a primary Syriac source, Simeon speaks of his having baptized Af'G, one of the
Himyarites, in the Church of the Monophysites in Hira; The Book of the Himyarites, ed. and
trans. A. Moberg (Lund, 1924), p. cxv. So there was a Monophysite church in Hira ca. 520, to
which may be related Severus’ letter mentioned in a previous chapter, above, 706—9.

50 Histoire Nestorienne, 144.

3! Because of their location and their belonging to the world of the southern Semites,
these events that took place in South Arabia tend to be forgotten as relevant to Monophysitism
in general and to Byzantine Oriens in particular. It is a pity that The Martyrs of Najran, which
drew attention to these events and placed them in the mainstream of Near Eastern history and
that of Oriens Christianus, was not available to Frend when he wrote Rise, which appeared
almost simultaneously in 1972. Omission of reference to these events was noted by Father
Michel van Esbroeck in his review of this work; see AB 91 (1973), 443. It should be noted
that Zacharia, the primary Syriac source for the reign of Justin, is aware of the place of South
Arabia in the history of Monophysitism, since he devotes a very long chapter to it—the letter
of Simeon of Béth-Arsham; see Zacharia, HE, Book VIII, chap. 3, versio, pp. 43-52.

2 The present writer has examined these events in detail in chree works: Martyrs,
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A

1. Although Justin was a zealous Chalcedonian, he could not but re-
spond positively to the appeal for help and participation in the South Arabian
crusade. A Byzantine fleet transported the Ethiopian expeditionary force, led
by Negus Caleb (Ella-Asbeha), to South Arabia.”

2. South Arabia emerged as a new Monophysite power in the Red Sea
area. This was a great gain for the persecuted church within Byzantium since
it could now count South Arabia in addition to Ethiopia as states whose con-
fession was Monophysitism.

3. As a Christian state, South Arabia endured for about fifty years until
the Persian occupation. So for half a century that country remained a bastion
of Monophysitism and a sphere of influence for Chalcedonian Byzantium in
the Arabian Peninsula and the Red Sea area. The expedition clinched the
Ethiopian-Byzantine friendly relationship which had started with the conver-
sion of Ethiopia to Christianity. Now the two powers, Chalcedonian Byzan-
tium and Monophysite Ethiopia, engaged in a joint crusade, and this put the
seal on their alliance which continued for a long time to come.

4. Ecclesiastically, South Arabia witnessed a resurgence of the faith, with
churches built or rebuilt, a new and developed hierarchy, and an episcopate.™
It even became a distinguished Monophysite region, the country of Mono-
physite martyrs who died for their faith, a special category of martyrs, since
their martyrdom took place after the Peace of the Church. The Monophysite
church persecuted by the Dyophysites was now a church of Christian martyrs
whom even Dyophysite Byzantium venerated.

5. Finally, and as far as the Arabs are concerned, the victory of Mono-
physitism and the Ethiopian army in South Arabia tipped the scales in the
struggle for Arabia between Judaism and Christianity in favor of the latter.”

“Ramla,” and “Byzantium in South Arabia,” DOP 33 (1979), 233—94. The reader is referred to
these works for detailed discussion of the events. The observations in this volume are, therefore,
deliberately brief and are presented in order to complete the picture in this chapter devoted to
the ecclesiastical history of Arab-Byzantine relations during the reign of Justin I. More will be
said on these events in BASIC II.

53 See “Ramla,” 128-30.

34 See “Byzantium in South Arabia,” 35-53, 59—G0.

%5 The abundance of anti-Semitic sentiments in Byzantine literature in the 6th and 7th
centuries may in part be referred to these events in which Christians were massacred by the
Judaizing king of Himyar; to these may be added the course of the Persian-Byzantine conflict
which flared up in the reign of every emperor of the 6th century and the early 7th, after a lull
throughout the 5th century. In these wars the Jews sided with the Persians. Finally, the
occupation of Jerusalem by the Persians in 614 may be added in view of the massacre, real or
fictitious, that was trumpeted by Strategius, the monk of St. Sabas, who recorded the capture
of Jerusalem by the Persians. For the latest on Byzantine anti-Semitism, see G. Dagron and V.
Deroche, “Juifs et chrétiens dans 'Orient du Vlle siecle,” TM 11 (1991), 17-273, and the
valuable introduction; also V. Deroche, “La polémique anti-judaique au Vle et au Vile siécle:
Un mémento inédit, les Kephalaia,” ibid., 275-311.
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For a century before the rise of Islam, Christianity, not Judaism, became the
dominant monotheistic faith in Arabia. Christian South Arabia became the
center of radiation for the Christian faith among the Arabs of pre-Islamic
Arabia. The chief martyrion in Najran, the Ka'ba of Najran, became a great
pilgrimage center for the Christians of the Arabian Peninsula for a century,
until the emigration of the Najranites to the Fertile Crescent during the ca-
liphate of Omar.*

B

The aforementioned gains that resulted from the smashing Monophysite
victory in South Arabia were substantial. But most relevant here is the rela-
tion of that victory to the fortunes of the Arabs within the empire, especially
the Ghassanids, the foederati of Byzantium in the sixth century. Although they
did not participate in the South Arabian crusade,” the martyrdoms in that
region affected them deeply throughout their long relationship with Byzan-
tium.

1. Although the martyrdoms affected many localities in South Arabia, it
was Najran, the Arab city in the predominantly Sabaean/Himyarite south,
that bore the brunt of the conflict. Najran had already become the center of
Christianity in South Arabia long before the martyrdoms, and that was con-
firmed during the reign of Anastasius through the inception of its episcopate,
whose first incumbent was consecrated by Philoxenus of Hierapolis. Najran's
privileged place is reflected in the fact that the saint whose feast the universal
church celebrates on 24 October was not a Himyarite but an Arab from Na-
jran, in fact its sayyid, St. Arethas, al-Harith ibn-Ka‘b, and so was the woman
martyr Ruhayma, who is also venerated together with Arethas and the Na-
jranites.”®

2. The Ghassanids were Arabs as the Najranites were; moreover, they
were related to the Najranites in the larger context of descent from South
Arab ancestry, since they had hailed from South Arabia before they finally
settled within the /imes and became foederati of Byzantium. A previous chapter
has even indicated that the Ghassanids were probably involved in winning
over the Najranites to the Monophysite confession. Finally, the Ghassinids
were related to the Najranites not only in the larger context of South Arab

56 See “Byzantium in South Arabia,” 69-80.

37 Byzantium naturally thought of the Blemmyes and the Nobadae who were closer to the
South Arabian scene than the Ghassanids; “Ramla,” 130; besides, these had withdrawn from
the service of Byzantium and were most probably then settled in northern Hijaz.

%8 The feast of St. Arethas in the Roman martyrology is 24 October; see DHGE, III, s.v.
Arethas, 1 (col. 1650). On Arethas and Ruhayma, see Martyrs; these saints may be added to the
short list of Arab saints which includes Cosmas and Damian, and also Moses of the 4th century.
Ruhayma of Najran emerges as the first woman Arab saint.
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descent, but in the narrower context of belonging to the Azd group.” Hence
these martyrs in South Arabia were not only fellow Arabs in a general sense
but also their immediate relatives, their cousins.

3. The Ghassanids, an Arab military aristocracy that had hewn its way
through the Arabian Peninsula, settled within the Roman /imes, on Roman
territory, and were christianized. For more than a century they became the
zealous champions of the Monophysite church and even endured misfortunes
and also betrayals on the part of the central government because of their faith.
The phenomenon needs an explanation. The old Arab concepts of wafz’ and
wala’ only partly explain their staunch support. The full explanation becomes
available when the martyrdoms of their cousins in Najran are recalled. The
Ghassanids are no longer only a military aristocracy attached to the Christian
faith. They are now utterly committed to Christianity and its Monophysite
variation because they are now related to the martyrs who laid down their
lives for the faith, whose sayyid, al-Harith ibn-Ka‘b, appears in the Christian
calendar as St. Arethas, and whose martyrion in Najran had become a great
pilgrimage center. This is the key to understanding the strong Christian com-
mitment of the Ghassanids throughout this century of christological contro-
versies and to explaining their dedication to the Monophysite cause through-
out the sixth century. Although their conversion to Monophysitism during
the reign of Anastasius had laid the foundation for their attachment to the
Monophysite cause, it was the martyrdoms of their relatives in Najran during
the reign of Justin that raised it to a much higher power and that sustained
them throughout the sixth century after the house of Justin returned Byzan-
tium to the Chalcedonian fold.

&

In the course of these convulsions that characterized the reign of Justin,
two figures dominate the scene of the Monophysite struggle for existence:
Simeon of Béth-Arsham, the dedicated Monophysite bishop who stirred
Oriens Christianus and Byzantium for the South Arabian crusade, and Jabala,
the king and phylarch of the Ghassanid foederati. The role of the first is clearer

% The Arabs of Najrin belonged in their tribal affiliation to Bani al-Harith ibn-Ka'b
(Balharith). See BAFIC, 400-401, where it was argued that these were Azdites as the
Ghassanids were. In addition to the testimony of Ibn Sa‘id, Ibn Khaldiin, and al-Masadi for
the Azdite affiliation of Balharith (BAFIC, 400 note 4), there is the contemporary and decisive
testimony of Hassan ibn-Thabit, the poet of the Ghassanids. He was an Azdite from Medina,
and consequently related to the Azdite Ghassinids. In one of his poems he addresses a clan of
Balharith and refers to the fact that it has the same tribal affiliation as his; see Diwan Hassan
ibn-Thabit, ed. W. “Arafit, Gibb Memorial Series (London, 1971), I, 355.

The Sabaic inscription referred to in BAFIC, 400, presents a problem that will be dis-
cussed in BASIC II. But the Azdite affiliacion of Balharith is established without it.
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than that of the second, but both were related to Byzantium: the first through
his journey to the Golan heights to invoke the aid of Jabala and through his
exhortation of clerics within Byzantium to use their influence with Justin for
helping their brethren in South Arabia; the second by showing his loyalty to
Monophysitism and withdrawing from the service of Byzantium. While in
northern Hijaz, Jabala also contributed indirectly to the success of the South
Arabian crusade by watching over Jewish settlements there, thus preventing
them from extending assistance to the Judaizing Himyarite ruler of South
Arabia.

III. APPENDIX
The Four Hundred Virgins

The account of the four hundred nuns or virgins abducted by Mundir, discussed above
in the section “Mundir and Christianity,” presents some textual problems.

A

It is not quite clear whether these women were nuns or maidens, and arguments
may be given supporting either reading.' In support of their being virgins, it may be
said that the most common term for nuns is deyrati, but the author, Zacharia, uses
batulgtha,’ which literally means “virgins” but can also mean “nuns.” On the other
hand, a case can be made for their being nuns: (1) if Zacharia had in mind only
maidens and not cloistered maidens he might have used the word ‘laimtd which can
mean only maidens, and indeed John of Ephesus uses this term in connection with an
episode not unlike this one.’ Furthermore, the large number, four hundred, could
argue in the same direction. It suggests that the place of worship from which Mundir
captured them is likely to have been a convent rather than a church, since if it was the
lacter it must have been an exceptionally large one to have contained worshipers of all
ages and both sexes from which Mundir singled out four hundred maidens for his
barbarity. And it would have been perfectly consonant with this barbarity to have
chosen for his sacrifice to al-‘Uzza not merely maidens but the nuns of a convent.

The number four hundred sounds suspiciously large. Perhaps, as has been sug-
gested, it was only forty.* But Zacharia goes out of his way to give his authority for
this figure, the anchorite Dada, who had seen the massacre with his own eyes.

B

In the Latin version of Zacharia, the four hundred maidens were captured “de
coetu Thomae apostoli Emesae.” The translation of the Syriac term d'ams which

! Vasiliev, for example, (Justin, 277) considered cthem “maidens.”

% Zacharia, HE, textus, p. 78, line 1.

> John of Ephesus, Historia Ecclesiastica, CSCO, Scriptores Syri, ser. 3, vol. 3 textus, p.
293, line 19.

4 J. Henninger, “Menschenopfer bei den Arabern,” Anthropos (1958), 734—38.

3 Zacharia, HE, versio, p. 53, line 14.
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comes after “the apostle Thomas” presents a problem.® Brooks and Chabot both trans-
lated it “Emesa,” the name of the well-known city in Phoenicia. But Emesa in Syriac
is normally spelled quite differently (Hims), and the author had used this orthography
in referring to Emesa in the same passage that speaks of the four hundred virgins.

Michael the Syrian has dimyis instead of the d'ams of Zacharia, and it is of course
Greek dMpog, carnifex publicus, the executioner. This makes sense, and the sentence
would thus be translated: “and the four hundred virgins/nuns who were captured from
the congregation of Thomas the Apostle, the public executioner sacrificed in one day
in honor of al-"Uzza.” Démios (djuog) would be a suitable term which expresses the
disgust of the ecclesiastical historian for the butchering of four hundred nuns or vir-
gins.?

In spite of the case that can be made for démios as the correct reading, an alterna-
tive emendation is possible, called for by the realization that the name of a city ot
locality is expected after the phrase “the congregation of the apostle Thomas” in order
to specify where the abduction took place, although the church may have been so well
known to the local or regional historian and to his readers that no such specification
was necessary. There is an Emisa mentioned in the lists of convents in Syria and
commented upon by Littmann and Honigmann, and it may be what Zacharia had in
mind.” A monastery is mentioned in connection with this locality, and geographically
it is located between Antioch and Chalcis, the area into which Mundir had carried his
invasion.

6 Ibid., textus, p. 78, line 2.

7 See Chronigue, 11, p. 271, middle column, line 16.

8 On its possible application to another figure associated with anti-Christian outbursts and
a contemporary of Mundir's, namely, Yasuf, the Himyarite king of South Arabia, see Martyrs,
265.

? See E. Honigmann, “Nordsyrische Kléster in vorarabischer Zeit,” Zeitschrift fiir Semitistik
1 (Leipzig, 1922), 23 note 25; E. Littmann, “Zur Topographie der Antiochene and Apamene,”
ibid., 174.



XI
The Reign of Justinian (527-565)

INTRODUCTION

he reign of Justinian was the longest in the sixth century and witnessed

momentous developments in the history of the Monophysite movement
and of the Ghassanid involvement in it. Before embarking on a discussion of
this complex involvement, some attention should be paid to the attitudes of
the new emperor toward the movement.'

' The reign may be divided into three phases with regard to imperial
relations with Monophysitism. (1) In the first phase, 527-536, the contro-
versy raged round the Theopaschite formula: “One of the Holy Trinity has
suffered in the flesh.” (2) In the second phase, 536-553, the controversy
centered round the “Three Chapters.” (3) In the third phase, 553—565, Jus-
tinian tried to enforce the decisions of the Council of Constantinople. The
emperor was a serious “theologian,” a strict Chalcedonian who was genuinely
interested in solving the Monophysite problem in the East. His theological
convictions as a Chalcedonian and his imperial designs allied him more with
the West than the East: it was 2 Roman pope, Leo, not an Alexandrian nor an
Antiochene patriarch, that had formulated the Chalcedonian doctrine; impe-
rial designs meant the reconquest of the Roman Occident; and he himself
came from the Balkans, from Dardania in Illyricum.” Yet, in spite of this,
Justinian had a soft spot for Monophysitism and tried to solve the problem it
presented throughout his long life. There were special considerations that in-
fluenced him to give this privileged treatment to Monophysitism. When he
came to power, Justinian was in effective territorial control of the Roman
Orient, not the Occident, and this was full of Monophysites. Further, one of
the four patriarchates of the Orient, that of Alexandria, had as its incumbent a

! For Justinian and the Monophysites in general, see Frend, Rise, 255-95; also the short
account of John Meyendorff in the more recent work with its relevant and challenging title,
Imperial Unity and Christian Division, in the series The Church in History (New York, 1989),
221-30, 235-45.

2 See the long argument on his origins and place of birth in Vasiliev, Justin, 43—49.
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Monophysite, Timothy (517—-535), and Egypt, an important province for By-
zantium, was strongly Monophysite. Finally, his own consort, Theodora, was
a Monophysite and intervened at nearly every turn to protect the interests and
leaders of the movement.

A
The First Phase (527—-536)

I. INTRODUCTION

For a clearer understanding of the Ghassanid$’ role in the Monophysite move-
ment during this first period, it is best to divide it into two parts. The first’
extends from 527 to 532. It opens with an edict attacking the heretics and
includes fulminations or anathemas against such figures as Eutyches and Apol-
linaris, but leaves out Severus and the Ghassanids. It also excludes the Arian
Goths in the West who, unlike the Saracen allies, are mentioned expressly by
name. The policy of reconciling the Monophysites reached its climax in 531
and in the following years. In 531 the emperor halted the persecution of the
Monophysites and issued an edict allowing the Monophysite monks to return
from exile. In 532 he convened a conference in Constantinople which, how-
ever, was unsuccessful in resolving theological differences.

The second period* extends from 532 to 535/36, a time of truce with the
Monophysites, during which the emperor, trying to unite the differing reli-
gious factions, issued two decrees on theological matters that came up at the
conference. He emphasized his Theopaschite formula which represented the
ultimate effort of compromise with the Monophysites. The climax of this
period® was reached in 535/36 when Monophysitism seemed to score a signal
triumph. Severus, who had refused the invitation to attend the conference of
532, came to Constantinople either in the winter of 534/35 or in September
535, and was received by the emperor. But this great triumph was followed
almost immediately by a resounding defeat for the movement.

With Theodora’s help, Monophysites were installed in the patriarchates
of Constantinople and Alexandria. With the death of Timothy of Alexandria,
the see of St. Mark was finally filled, in 535, by Theodosius, who had been a
deacon, and Severus’ letters reassured him of his canonicity. With the death of
Epiphanius in Constantinople, Anthimus was consecrated patriarch of that
see, and the two newly elected patriarchs communicated with each other. This

3 Frend, Rise, 255-67.
4 Ibid., 267-70.
5 Ibid., 270-71.
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was the result of a collaboration between the influential empress, Theodora,
and the chief Monophysite figure, Severus, in the capital itself.

II. EARLY GHASSANID-IMPERIAL CONTACTS: JUSTINIAN AND THEODORA

The sources are silent on the ecclesiastical fortunes of the Ghassanids in this
decade or so, unlike their political and military roles, which were well noticed
in the sources. The accidents of survival must be the explanation for this
silence, since a few years after the end of this decade (the first phase), Arethas,
the Ghassanid supreme phylarch, arrived in Constantinople and scored an out-
standing victory—the ordination of the two bishops, Jacob and Theodore,
which changed the course of Monophysite history. Arethas continued to be a
force in the movement until his death in 569. His appearance around 540 in
Constantinople could not possibly have been without a background of involve-
ment in the Monophysite movement in the preceding years, and the same
must be said of his father who served Justinian for some two years before his
death at the battle of Thannaris in 528. Thus it is important to examine this
decade in order to understand the involvement of the Ghassanids in Mono-
physitism and their role in Justinian’s scheme of things.

The first and last years of this phase, 527 and 536, witnessed two Justin-
ianic decrees against the heretics. The first did not mention living Mono-
physite “heretics” such as Severus but anathematized Eutyches and others,
while the second, in much stronger terms, fulminated against the Mono-
physites and singled them out, mentioning their leaders by name, especially
Severus. How, then, did Arethas and the Ghassanid royal house thrive in this
period and succeed in keeping their prestige and influence in Constantinople
with the central government? And how did they, shortly after, engineer a coup
in the capital that brought about the ordination of the two bishops, a crucial
development in the history of Monophysitism? The answer to these questions
must be sought in the attitude of the royal couple, Justinian and Theodora.
Something has already been said on this subject in a previous chapter® in the
context of political and military history, but it deserves a full treatment here
in this part on ecclesiastical history to which it properly belongs.

Justinian
There were many factors that were operative and that may explain Justin-
ian's tolerance, even friendliness, toward the Ghassanids and Arethas. His
apprenticeship to statecraft and preparation for his future role during the reign
of his uncle Justin, when he was the de facto ruler of the empire, prepared
him for accepting the Ghassanids. During the reign of Justin, two series of
events took place that were relevant to this attitude. The Himyarite-Ethiopian

6 See BASIC 1.1, 68, 319-20.
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war in South Arabia drew his attention to the importance of Monophysitism
in the Red Sea area and the Arabian Peninsula, at least western Arabia, and
the Ghassanids were part of that Afro-Arabian world. Byzantium had impor-
tant relations with that region, and the emperor himself initiated an am-
bitious and imaginative Afro-Arabian policy which was reflected in the em-
bassy of Julian around 530. The Ghassanids belonged to that world, and
Justinian understood their relevance.

Closer to home than the events in South Arabia were the raids of Mundir
against Oriens,” made possible by the withdrawal of the Ghassanids from the
service. The exposed Roman /imes could be protected effectively against the
tactics of an enemy such as the Lakhmid Mundir only by the Ghassanids.
Justinian witnessed all these events while he waited to succeed to the throne.
When he did become emperor, he did so already prepared to solve the Ghas-
sanid problem since he could not afford to have the most efficient federate
army in Oriens inactive. And it was not difficult for him to reject Mono-
physite theologians and accept Monophysite soldiers. The events in South
Arabia provided precedents. Justin, the Chalcedonian, sent a fleet that trans-
ported the Ethiopian army of the Monophysite Negus, Ella-Asbeha®—a case
of Monophysite-Dyophysite military cooperation and a precedent that could
easily be repeated in his reign. The Arian Goths in the Roman Occident also
provided him with a parallel to the situation in the Orient. Justinian had
exempted them from his decree of 527, although he damned them as heretics.
And so in this sense also the Ghassanids became the Germans of the East in
this ecclesiastical context.

Justinian’s decision to accommodate the Ghassanids as soon as he as-
cended the throne’ was strengthened by the outbreak of the Persian war after a
long lull since the peace with Persia during the reign of Anastasius in 506.
For one who had designs to recover the West, Justinian could ill afford a
Persian war in the East without the participation of the powerful federate
army of the Ghassanids. He had a personal acquaintance with the eastern front
since, during his uncle’s reign, he was stratégos,'® and it is possible that he met
Jabala or Arethas then or heard about them.

The emperor’s decision to come to terms with the Ghassanids was fully
justified by events. The Ghassanids acquitted themselves remarkably well in
the first Persian war, and Justinian sent his ambassador Julian ca. 530 on his

7 Ibid., 79-82.

8 See Martyrs, 203—4, and “Conference of Ramla,” 128—29.

? Just as his strong anti-Monophysite reaction in 536 was apparently related in part to his
designs on Italy and the capture of Rome, as suspected by Bury, HLRE, 378, and Frend, Rise,
272-75.

19 See Procopius, History, 1.xii.21.
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historic mission to the Afro-Arabian world. If Arethas came to Constantinople
for the investiture after he was made basilens, Justinian would certainly have
met him. Judging from a well-known passage in John of Ephesus about the
impression Arethas made on Justin II later in the century," he would have
impressed Justinian even more, since he was younger and more vigorous.
Justinian must have been convinced that this was his man in Oriens to watch
over the Roman frontier, and this can explain his unwavering support for him
until his death in spite of Arethas’ Monophysitism and the calumnies of the
chief historian of the reign.

Finally, a most important factor in Justinian’s thinking about Arethas
and the Ghassanids must have been Theodora herself, the bulwark of Mono-
physitism in the capital and at the court, the seat of power. Her support must
have begun even before Justinian’s elevation to the throne in 527. While she
continued to support Monophysitism after 527, she must also be considered
one of the factors that were operative in Justinian’s attitude even before his
elevation to the throne.

Theodora

The influence of Theodora on Justinian, especially as far as the Mono-
physite movement is concerned, is well known. Therefore, this section will
treat only her possible early contacts and relations with Arethas and the
Ghassanids, which must be the key to her support of the former’s extraordin-
ary mission in Constantinople around 540. As the Monophysite empress,
Theodora was well aware of the situation in the Byzantine Orient, which she
had learned of before her marriage to Justinian. She must have been aware of
the Ghassanid presence as a Monophysite army. But personal contacts or inter-
est in the supreme phylarch, Arethas, who came to her around 540 and
through her succeeded in procuring the historic ordinations, must have ex-
isted quite early in his career. She may have met him personally, possibly when
he came for his investiture as king around 530." Alternatively, influential
Monophysites may have drawn her attention to the central and crucial position
of Arethas in reviving and protecting the Monophysite movement.

Theodora and Severus. Charles Diehl suggested that Severus (who preached
especially to women) and Patriarch Timothy exercised a salutary influence on
Theodora while she was still in Egypt and before she met Justinian.” This is

1 BASIC 1.1, 287, 338.

'Z When exactly Arethas came for his investiture as asiless is not clear. His appointment
took place in 529 in the middle of the Persian war. It is likely that the journey to Constantino-
ple was postponed until after the end of the war, in which he was heavily involved as the
commander of the foederati. The period 532—555 must have been an appropriate one; there was
the Endless Peace with Persia and the truce with the Monophysites.

13 C. Diehl, Byzantine Empresses, trans. H. Bell and T. de Kerpely (London, 1964), 49.
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an attractive suggestion, and it may be supported by the letter preserved in
Zacharia concerning Severus’ journey to Constantinople in the early 530s.
Justinian’s invitation to Severus, “the arch-heretic,” who was deposed as soon
as the house of Justin came to power, could only have been at the instance of
Theodora. A strong affirmative statement on her interest in him is contained
in Severus’ own letter to the monks and priests of Oriens, after he was de-
nounced and exiled again, where he describes her as the “Christ-worshipping
queen.”" When he finally came to Constantinople in 535, he again met Theo-
dora, now the empress. As has been indicated earlier, this was the year that
witnessed the triumph of Monophysitism in the capital, during which Sev-
erus, the great administrator, almost arranged the Monophysite takeover of
Oriens with the exception of the see of Antioch. It is consonant with this
achievement that he should have drawn the attention of the empress to the
Ghassanids and to Arethas as pivotal for the further progress of Monophysit-
ism in Oriens; and if Arethas was himself, too, in the capital sometime in the
early 530s, this would have established personal contact between empress and
phylarch in addition to the recommendations of Severus.

Severus and the Ghassanids. Severus was exiled in 518, some ten years
before Arethas appeared on the scene of Arab-Byzantine relations. But he
knew Jabala, his father, during his patriarchate over Antioch from 513 to
518, and he would have known about the Ghassanid withdrawal from the
service during the reign of Justin. News of the extraordinary Basileia of Are-
thas around 530 would have reached the Monophysite world in Egypt, where
Severus was living in exile. This must have aroused Severus’ interest in the
services of the Ghassanids as protectors of Monophysitism. Monophysite
clerics including Severus and Philoxenus are known to have approached Near
Eastern rulers in order to seek their protection for the Monophysite church.
Philoxenus wrote to Aba Ya'fur of Hira, as did Severus himself to the
Lakhmid Mundir.” It is only natural that Severus should have thought of the
Ghassanids as protectors of the movement in Oriens, his own patriarchate,
and that he should have conveyed this to Theodora personally when he was in
Constantinople in 535.

Simeon of Béth-Arsham and Theodora. The indefatigable Monophysite
bishop of Béth-Arsham in Sasanid Persia must be mentioned in this context.
Even more than Severus, he was involved in ecclesiastical diplomacy and ap-
proaches to the rulers of the Near East in the interest of his confession, such as

4 The Severus-Theodora connection is recorded by Zacharia, HE, 1X.19, versio, p. 93,
lines 1-7. In a touching tribute to Theodora, Severus, in his letters to the monks of Oriens,
speaks of how the empress protected him and how the monks of Oriens had prayed that she
would protect Severus; ibid., versio, p. 95, lines 30-32.

15 See above, 702—9.
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the Lakhmid king Mundir, Emperor Anastasius, the Persian king Kawad,
Jabala, the Ghassanid king, and the Negus of Ethiopia. He also visited the
Monophysite kingdoms of the Near East in the 530s and is therefore likely to
have visited Arethas in Ghassanland in Oriens, as he had visited his father,
Jabala, at Jabiya around 520 when he invoked his aid during the crisis in
South Arabia.' His biographer, John of Ephesus, says that his last journey
was to Constantinople, sometime in the 530s, where he established contact
with Theodora. It is not entirely clear exactly when during that decade he
visited Constantinople. If it was in 536 when Anthimus was still patriarch of
Constantinople, he would have added his voice to that of Severus in support of
the latter’s interest in the Ghassanids as prospective protectors of the strug-
gling Monophysite church in Oriens. If he visited Constantinople in the sec-
ond half of the decade, he would have done so” in the midst of the persecu-
tion unleashed by Justinian against the Monophysites whose instrument in
Oriens was Ephraim, the patriarch of Antioch.

Perhaps the foregoing paragraphs have marshaled enough evidence to
explain how a soldier (Arethas) in Oriens suddenly appears around the year
540 in Constantinople and comes back to Oriens after having achieved an
outstanding success in the matter of the ordination of the two bishops Jacob
and Theodore. Theodora gave her unqualified support to a man whom she
must already have learned of, who was recommended to her by the highest
authorities of the Monophysite church—Severus of Antioch and Simeon of
Béth-Arsham.

III. THE GHASSANID EPISCOPATE

The sources are also silent on the Ghassanid ecclesiastical organization in this
first phase, but not for the reign of Justin nor around 540 when bishops of the
Ghassanids or the Arabs are mentioned, namely, John of Evaria and Theodore.
So the question arises as to whether or not they had a bishop in this first phase
after their return to the service in 527.

Their last bishop, it has been argued, was most probably John of Evaria,'
who was among the bishops exiled in 519. He could not have been their
bishop after their return since the sources say that he died in exile in Harlan.
Presumably the Ghassanids remained without a bishop but were ministered to
by lower ranking clerics, priests, and deacons. Yet in the Monophysite litera-
ture of the period there is the Life of Jobn of Tella, written by John of Ephesus,"

16 See Martyrs, 161-64.

17 In addition to what John of Ephesus says about the motive for the visit, involving the
church in Persia itself.

18 See above, 717-22.

19 John of Ephesus, Life of Jobn of Tella, PO 18 (Paris, 1924), pp. 513—26, especially pp.
515-19.
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in which he discusses the problem of ordinations around 530; the complaints
of the faithful about the thinning ranks of the clerics; the reluctance of the
bishops to undertake ordination out of fear; the attitude of Severus himself”
who made cautious recommendations concerning the ordination of priests and
deacons; and finally how John of Tella won the day and engaged in ordina-
tions to which came candidates from distant places including Phoenicia.”

The Ghassanids must have been involved in this. Phoenicia was not far
from Arabia, the headquarters of the Ghassanids, and with the extension of
the authority of Arethas, by the conferment of the Basileiz in 529, his phy-
larchal jurisdiction must have come closer to Tella and its zealous bishop,
John, who most probably ordained some clerics for the Ghassanids. The mat-
ter is of some importance since the Ghassanid phylarch on whose involvement
in Monophysite theology and ecclesiastical organization the sources are silent,
or at least not explicitly informative, in this phase suddenly appears in the
second phase heavily involved in both. The Ghassanids and their phylarch
must have become involved in this first phase, and thus its elucidation pro-
vides an appropriate background for dealing with the Ghassanid role in the
history of the Monophysite movement in the second phase, which opens in the
year 536 with Justinian’s novel against Severus and Monophysitism.

IV. THE MONOPHYSITE CONFESSIONS OF FAITH

If the sources are not explicitly informative on Arethas in this phase, they
most probably contain an implied reference to him, and a most important one
at that. In the Life of Simeon, the Bishop (of Béth-Arsham), John of Ephesus
speaks of Simeon’s travels in the Monophysite world in order to refute the
Nestorian contention that their confession was the prevalent one in Christen-
dom;? after his travels, he returns to Persia with the profession of faith of
various Christian communities and peoples written in their own languages, and
these were certainly not Nestorian confessions. Because of the extreme impor-
tance of this passage in John of Ephesus and the specificity that pervades it, it
is important to quote it iz extenso.

The good and merciful God therefore, who does not fail to reward zeal
for his name, on seeing the man’s purpose of mind and his zeal, and that
he underwent weariness no less than that of the apostles without shrink-

20 Brend, Rise, 260—61.

21 As explained by the editor and translator of the Life, E. W. Brooks, this was Phoenicia
Maritima; see ibid., 512 note 2.

22 An echo of this rivalry between the Monophysites and the Nestorians at the court of the
Persian king Kawad and the attempt of each to prove that theirs was the true and best faith is
reflected in Histoire Nestorienne (p. 126) where, of course, the Nestorians win this confessional
contest and Kawad likes theirs best.
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ing, himself also bestowed upon him in no less degree than upon them
his gift that was given to the apostles, of speaking with new tongues.
For, whatever people’s country he entered, on the third day that came he
would speak with them in their own tongue, thanking God who had
visited him. And so also he even delivered an exposition in the chancel
(Bfine) in the churches of all the peoples to whom he went; and on this
account he would declare and say to us with tears, “In this matter I
recognised clearly that God had visited me and strengthened me, and
that he had not withheld his grace and his mercy from me.” But he
reflected, “What parchments (x@otng) and what rolls are capable of
going through all this wear of long and protracted journeys through the
countries without being torn to pieces?” And for this reason, and in
order that the certainty of the writing might remain without suspicion of
alteration, he made great linen cloths and medicated them, so that they
might take writing, which also will, I think, be preserved by the be-
lievers in the land of the Persians for ever; and on them he would accord-
ingly write the belief of every people in their own language from their
archbishops, and above the belief he affixed the seals of the king of that
people and of the bishops of the same and of their chief men in lead upon
these cloths, and thus confirmed it, acting thus among all peoples and
all tongues amqng the believers, going about and taking their belief and
the seals of their soverans and of their high-priests. And thus he collected
the belief of many peoples and of many tongues on these cloths. And he
turned back after seven years and went away(?); and, while he was on his
way back, the king in whose days he had started died, and the magnates
who had been umpires, and his son succeeded him; and he proceeded to
stir up war in the territories of the Romans, and his appearance before
the authorities was not carried out. But it became known to all men
living in the country of the Persians that the evil doctrine of Nestorius
flourished there only, while all peoples and tongues abhorred it; and this
glorious old man was yet more emboldened against them.”

This passage was mentioned briefly in The Martyrs of Najran,”* but only

as illustrating the “peregrinations of Simeon,” and E. W. Brooks’ reservations
on the number of rulers whom Simeon visited was also noted in a chapter that
attempted to make the extraordinary career of this Monophysite bishop more
intelligible. The passage may now be examined for its contribution to the
ecclesiastical history of the Arabs in the sixth century.

Its principal value is its references to the languages of the Monophysite

2 Trans. E. W. Brooks, PO 17 (Paris, 1923), pp. 155-57.
24 Martyrs, 163.
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Christian Orient in a detailed and specific manner that leaves no doubt about
the fact that these various communities used their vernacular languages for the
expression of their faith. The Monophysite world of the sixth century is fairly
well known. In addition to the Syriac-speaking communities in Persia and
Oriens, there were (a) the Arabs, especially the Ghassanids, who, as has been
explained in the preceding chapter, were converted to Monophysitism early in
the century; to the Ghassanids may be added other tribes that moved in their
orbit and who also may have adopted Monophysitism in Hijaz or northern
Arabia; (b) the Himyarite community in South Arabia, now Monophysite
after the Ethiopian expedition in the early 520s; (c) within South Arabia, the
Arab enclave of Najran, the city of martyrs; (d) the Ethiopians; (e) the Copts;
and (f) the Armenians.”

John of Ephesus does not name any of these communities, presumably
because they were well known to his readers. Neither does he specify which
rulers of these communities Simeon visited, but he does state categorically
that he did visit them and brought back written confessions of their faith.
Who were these Arab rulers, and where did they reside? The natural presump-
tion is that the Ghassanid ruler was one of them. The Ghassanids were zealous
Monophysites, and they were Simeon’s first port of call on his way westward
from the Land of the Two Rivers through Oriens, Arabia, and the Nile Val-
ley. Above all, there is documentary evidence that he had actually visited
their king, Jabala, in Jabiya around 520 when he invoked his aid against the
Himyarite persecutors of the Christians in South Arabia, as is clearly stated in
the explicit of the letter he wrote from their camp-town.” So the probabilities
are in favor of a visit to the Ghassanid ruler. The passage in John of Ephesus is
not explicit on the identity of the Ghassanid king involved, nor is it so on the
two Persian kings. The chances, however, are that it was Arethas whom Sim-
eon visited, and this can be easily concluded from the references to the two
Persian kings, who in this case must have been Kawad, who died in 531, and
Chosroes, his son, who succeeded him. According to John of Ephesus, Simeon
returned to Persia after a journey of seven years to find the Persian king, in
whose days he set out, dead and his son “stirring up war in the territories of
the Romans.” The “war” referred to must be the second Persian war, which
broke out in 540, or its antecedent, the Strata dispute in 539. So if Simeon
had an encounter with a Ghassanid king sometime in the course of these seven
years that ended around 540, it must have been Arethas, who was the
Ghassanid king during this period, his father Jabala having died in 528 at the
battle of Thanniris.

2> Nubia was to be converted to Monophysitism later in the 540s.
26 See Martyrs, 63.
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If Simeon did indeed visit the Ghassanid ruler and brought back with
him a confession of faith in Arabic, this will represent an important gain in
the story of the use of Arabic as one of the languages of the Christian Orient
before the rise of Islam, related to the problem of an Arabic Bible and liturgy,
but distinct from it. It will mean that the Arabic language was in use for the
expression of theological thought, perhaps in a simple, unsophisticated man-
ner. In the fourth century, the Arab queen Mavia fought the Arian emperor
Valens for the faith of Nicaea. It has been suggested that there was an Arabic
version of the Nicene Creed in that century,” during which the Arab queen
insisted on the consecration of an Arab bishop for her people and which saw
the composition of Arabic odes in celebration of the Mavian victories against
Valens, vouched for by Sozomen. So already in the fourth century there was an
Arabic confession of faith, the Nicene Creed. In the sixth century, the
Ghassanid rulers discussed theology. The Syriac sources have preserved echoes
of this when Arethas accuses Chalcedonian Ephraim, the patriarch of Antioch,
of preaching guaternitas and, later in the 560s, he accuses the two dissident
bishops, Eugenius and Conon, of Tritheism, although he would not have used
Arabic terms in these colloquies.”

What this Arabic confession of faith would have consisted of may be seen
in those Monophysite confessions of the 530s, preserved by Zacharia of My-
tilene, when Anthimus and Theodosius wrote letters after their consecrations
to state clearly their doctrinal position, which start with adherence to the
Council of Nicaea.” The Arabic version of this Monophysite confession would
have been expressed along these lines, written by their Monophysite ecclesias-
tics, one of whom was possibly John, to'whom Philoxenus of Hierapolis had
written on the Monophysite faith against the Nestorians.”

B
The Second Phase (536—553)

I. INTRODUCTION

After fighting for Byzantium in the Arabian Peninsula and in the first Persian
war, Arethas suddenly appeared in this phase as a concerned Monophysite,
engaged in theological discussions, and working for the resuscitation of the
Monophysite hierarchy. He continued to act as such and to intervene in the

27 See BAFOC, 440 and note 101. Cf. V. Poggi, “Situazione linguistica dell'Oriente
bizantino nel secolo V,” in Autori classici in lingue del vicino e medio Oriente, ed. G. Fiaccadori
(Rome, 1990), 120.

28 See below, 746-55, 805—24.

29 See, for example, the letter of Anthimus to Severus after his election to the Patriarchate
of Constantinople in 535; Zacharia, HE, versio, pp. 96—100.

30 gee above, 695.
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interests of his confession until the end of his reign. In order to understand his
new role and his services to the Monophysite cause, it is necessary to set this
against the background of ecclesiastical history in this period.” The two most
relevant elements in this background are: (1) the counter-cowp staged by the
Chalcedonians in 536, which returned the patriarchates of the East to Chal-
cedonian incumbents, and the persecution of the Monophysites that followed
in the latter part of the 530s; and (2) the attempts of Justinian to reconcile the
Monophysites in the 540s, which culminated in the promulgation of the edict
on the Three Chapters, in which he condemned three fifth-century theo-
logians, all of whom were anathema to the Monophysites.

1. Just as the combination of Severus and Theodora was responsible for
the Monophysite triumph, it was the collaboration of two firm Chalcedo-
nians—Ephraim, the patriarch of Antioch, and Pope Agapetus—that brought
about the counter-revolution. The arrival of Agapetus in Constantinople sealed
the fate of Monophysitism in the capital. Chalcedonian Anthimus was de-
posed, and Menas was consecrated instead, while Theodosius left Alexandria
and ultimately resided with Anthimus in Constantinople in the palace of
Hormisdas. The patriarchal turnover was followed by a synod (May—June 536)
that condemned Anthimus, and an imperial edict confirmed the synod and
uttered the harshest pronouncement against Severus, who left the city and
died in exile in Egypt in 538. A persecution of Monophysites followed, prin-
cipally undertaken by Ephraim, and Monophysite ecclesiastical writers speak
of martyrdoms. John of Tella was the victim of this persecution. He was
arrested near Singara and died in prison in 538.

2. After disposing of the Origenistic heresies in Palestine in the early
540s, Justinian turned again to reconciling the Monophysites by issuing the
edict on the Three Chapters,” in which he condemned Theodore of Mop-
suestia, certain specified works of Theodoret of Cyrrhus, and Ibas of Edessa,
all of whom were offensive to the Monophysites. The four patriarchs signed it
under imperial pressure, as did Pope Vigilius, who was summoned to Con-
stantinople and finally gave his approval by issuing his Judicatum in April
548. The sequel of the Judicatum was untrest in the Western church which
turned against the pope and the Judicatum; it, in turn, was then revoked by
the pope himself; all of which led to the convocation of the Fifth Ecumenical
Council in 553. Justinian’s Edict of Three Chapters and the Judicatum were
Theodora’s final triumph; she died soon after in 548.

Against these two elements of the general ecclesiastical history of this

3! For this see the chapter in A. Fliche and V. Martin, Histoire de l’Eg!i:e, IV (Paris,
1945), 457—66; and Frend, Rise, 273-95.

32 The edict has not survived, and its date is uncertain. Fliche and Martin (op. cit., 460)
give no date, nor does Frend in Rise. Stein (HBE, 634) gives the end of 543 or 544; Bury
(HLRE, 384) dates it to 546.
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period, may now be set the two accounts of Arethas and his involvement in
the Monophysite movement that have survived in the sources: his encounter
with the patriarch of Antioch, Ephraim; and his journey to Constantinople to
secure the ordination of the two bishops, Jacob and Theodore, in the early
540s.

II. ARETHAS AND EPHRAIM

In a precious passage, Michael the Syrian® has preserved a detailed account of
an encounter between Arethas, the Ghassanid supreme phylarch, and
Ephraim, the Chalcedonian patriarch of Antioch. It is remarkable for being a
detailed account; the data included in it reveal for the first time the Ghassanid
phylarch not as a soldier on the battlefield but as a loyal Monophysite arguing
for the correctness of Monophysite theology. It is no doubt taken out of the
Ecclesiastical History of the writer who paid special attention to the Ghassanids
and was one of Michael’s sources, namely, John of Ephesus. The passage de-
serves a detailed analysis but before engaging in this, it is necessary to make
two observations.

1. Although this is the first time that a Ghassanid phylarch discusses
theology in the sources, it is unlikely that this was the first time that he did
so. Arethas had been supreme phylarch for some ten years and had witnessed
the tribulations of his church to which, like his father before him, he was
sensitive. It has been argued® that he must have been on the horizon of
Severus and Theodora, as a ruler who could play a role in the protection of
Monophysitism. And it is not likely that he was a mere soldier completely
uninformed about the elementary doctrines of his confession. Simeon of Béth-
Arsham may have procured from the Ghassanid clerics a confession of the true
Monophysite faith during the reign of his father, Jabala,” and Philoxenus may
have written on theological matters to one, John the Arab, who could easily
have been the bishop of the Ghassanids.” If so, Arethas was not uninformed
about the theology of Monophysitism. Indeed, toward the end of his reign he
presided over a church council that tried the case of the Tritheists, Eugenius
and Conon.” The passage in Michael the Syrian, then, can be set against this
theological background for the Ghassanid interlocutor, and it reveals the non-
military facet of the personality of the supreme phylarch.

2. The date of the encounter is not clear in the Chronicle of Michael
whose dates are sometimes unreliable. He places it after the journey of the

3% Michael the Syrian, Chronique, 11, 246-48; for the Syriac text, see col. 1, p. 310 to col.
2, p. 311.

3 See abgve, 739.

35 For this see above, 740.

36 On this see above, 695.

37 See below, 805-8.
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phylarch to Constantinople to secure the ordination of Jacob and Theodore,
and so suggests a date in the early 540s. This is difficult to accept; the
chances are that this happened in the late 530s,” and in support of this, the
following may be adduced.

a. The early 540s were the years of the second Persian war, in which the
empire was heavily engaged in fighting with Persia. It is unlikely that the
emperor who, according to the account, asked the patriarch to meet Arethas,
would have initiated such an attempt to convert Arethas in the midst of the
war, especially as the imperial attitude toward the Monophysites was influ-
enced by political events. With a war on his hands in an East that was full of
Monophysites, of whom the Ghassanid foederati formed an important part, it
is incredible that Justinian would have engaged in such follies.

b. The case for the 530s is thus strong, especially as Ephraim died in
545 and the late 530s would have been the only period during which he could
have attempted the conversion of Arethas. This is confirmed by the fact that it
was in this very period after the Chalcedonian coxp of 536 and Justinian’s edict
against Severus that the second persecution of the Monophysites was let loose,
and Ephraim himself was its agent. In a well-known chapter,” Zacharia of
Mytilene states that Justinian ordered him to traverse Oriens in order to bring
back the Monophysites to the Chalcedonian fold in the fifteenth year of his
reign, that is, 536/37, which thus must be the year of this encounter berween
Arethas and Ephraim.* The eastern front was quiet after the conclusion of the
Endless Peace in 532, and so this attempt to convert Arethas could have taken
place at that time. Furthermore, the passage in Michael states that Ephraim
did this at the insistence of the emperor, and the chapter in Zacharia confirms
this when it says that it was the emperor who asked Ephraim to undertake
this missionary campaign. At the end of the chapter, Zacharia describes the
journey of Ephraim to Palestine and thence to Egypt," and this brings him
close to Arethas geographically, since the latter’'s headquarters were in the

38 A date in the late 530s is also suggested by the phrase “avant sa mort” with reference
to Ephraim, used by Michael in referring to the time when Ephraim attempted to convert
Arethas. The phrase could suggest a year just before the death of Ephraim in 545, but the
phrase is misleading; see Chronigue, 1, p. 246, line 18. The Monophysites hated Ephraim who
was a persecutor and did not wish him well; hence the phrase, perhaps unconsciously, expresses
Monophysite hopes for the death of Ephraim and their release from his firm grip.

It is noteworthy that Michael does not introduce the long passage on Ephraim and Arethas
with the customary “en cette année” but leaves it undated; hence the attempt to date it is not
frustrated by an explicit statement that dates other events in Michael. J. S. Trimingham dates
the encounter to 538, but gives no reasons; see his Christianity among the Arabs in Pre-Islamic
Times (London, 1979), 231.

39 Zacharia, HE, versio, Book X, chap. 1, pp. 118-20.

9 Ibid., p. 118, lines 19-24.

A1 Ibid., p. 120, lines 1-5.
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Provincia Arabia and in the Golan, in Palaestina Secunda, and this provides
the right locale and context for the meeting between the two.

The passage in Michael involving the encounter of the phylarch and the
patriarch may be summarized as follows. Emperor Justinian asks Ephraim, the
patriarch of Antioch, to approach Arethas, in the hope of converting him to
the Chalcedonian position. Arethas refuses and accuses the Chalcedonians of
having perverted the Holy Trinity into a Quaternity. Ephraim asks him
whether it was just to reject what 630 ecclesiastics had decided at Chalcedon
and follow the small number of those who dissented. Arethas answers him
through a simile to the effect that as a tiny rat found in a_cauldron full of
meat can infect the whole mass of pure meat, so does the Tome of Leo infect
the entire doctrine of the church. Ephraim then tries to make him accept
communion from him, but Arethas invites the patriarch to a feast at which
only camel meat is served. When Ephraim refuses to eat, Arethas says that
just as Ephraim has refused to eat what he had offered him, so he would refuse
to accept the oblation that Ephraim had offered. In the wealth of details that
it provides, the passage recalls that in Malchus on the fifth-century phylarch
Amorkesos, of the reign of Leo. In the interests of clarity, the long passage,
translated by J. B. Chabot, will be divided into two parts.

1

Héret, fils de Gabala, roi des Taiyayé chrétiens, et ses familiers étaient
fort scandalisés du Synode, et ne mangeaient pas méme le pain avec les
Chalcédoniens. Ephrem le Juif, d’Antioche, fut envoyé prés d’eux, avant
sa mort, par I'empereur. Il dit 2 Héret: “Pourquoi étes-vous scandalisés a
notre sujet et au sujet de I'Eglise?” Héret répondit: “Nous ne sommes pas
scandalisés au sujet de I'Eglise de Dieu, mais par le mal que vous avez
causé 2 la foi. Nous nous éloignons (de vous) parce que vous introduisez
une quaternité au lieu de la Trinité, et que vous obligez les hommes a
renier la vraie foi.” Ephrem ajouta encore: “Il te parait donc juste, 6 roi,
qu’'une assemblée de 630 personnes, 2 moins que ce ne soient des comé-
diens, soit anathématisée; et, étant donné que tous étaient évéques, com-
ment pourrait-on mépriser tous ceux-ci et accepter le petit nombre de
ceux qui sont hérétiques?” Héret lui répondit en disant: “Je suis un bar-
bare et un soldat; je ne sais pas lire les Ecritures, cependant, je te pro-
poserai un exemple: quand je commande 2 mes serviteurs de préparer un
festin 4 mes troupes, de remplir les chaudi¢res de viande pure de mouton
et de boeuf, et de la cuire, s’il se trouve dans les chaudiéres un rat nain,
par ta vie, patriarche!, toute cette viande pure est-elle souillée par ce rat,
oui ou non?” Celui-ci répondit: “Oui!” Alors, Héret reprit: “Si une
grande masse de chair est corrompue par un petit rat infect, comment
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toute I'assemblée de ceux qui ont adhéré a cette hérésie impure ne serait-
elle pas souillée? Car tous ont donné par écrit leur adhésion au Tome de
Léon; que est ce rat infect.”*

1. Arethas is described accurately with his patronymic and the fact of his
kingship over the Christian Arabs. The term “ses familiers,” his intimates,
acquaintances, is somewhat strange, since one would have expected another
term.” These, however, are likely to be his phylarchs, family, or members of
his retinue, who were all Monophysites, as was his army.

2. The “Synod” in Monophysite literature means Chalcedon, but the use
of such a term at the beginning of the passage about a council that had taken
place a century before could suggest a synod that is recent and close to 537,
when the encounter took place. It is possible that Arethas and the Mono-
physites were still “in shock” after the synod of Constantinople in 536 in
which Justinian blasted the Monophysites, especially Severus. But the context
and subsequent references to Chalcedon suggest that it is a reference to that
council.

3. Noteworthy is the statement that Ephraim approached Arethas on the
orders of Justinian himself. This is consonant with the coxp of 536 in which
the patriarchal sees were turned over to Chalcedonians and, in its wake, the
emperor thought the same might be done in Oriens with the supreme phylar-
chate. In so doing, he may have taken a leaf out of the notebook of Theodora,
who always went to the top, to the rulers and influential figures, in order to
influence the course of events. This also represents the first recorded instance
of attempts to win over the Ghassanid phylarch to the Chalcedonian position,
an attempt that was to be fruitlessly repeated later in the century with Are-
thas’ grandson Nu‘man.

4. Most interesting is Arethas’ answer to Ephraim when he broached the
topic with him. Arethas has two objections: that the Chalcedonians intro-
duced a Quaternity into the Trinity and that forceful methods were used in
leading men away from the true faith.

Significant is the use of the term Quaternity (quaternitas) by the soldier,
Arethas. This is a technical theological term that became part of the chris-
tological disputes since Chalcedon. By speaking of the two natures, the
Chalcedonians left themselves open to the charge that they were perverting

42 Michael the Syrian, Chronique, 11, 246—47.

43 French “ses familiers” translates Syriac yadi aybin (Chronique, 11, p. 310, first col., line
9 from bottom). The pronominal suffix in the Syriac word is not singular, as translated by
Chabot, but plural, hin. Perhaps Chabot translated it thus because he thought a pluralis maies-
tatis is involved, since the natural reference of the plural suffix is to king Arethas. He is
probably righe, although the plural suffix may conceivably be construed with the plural Taydyé
that immediately precedes it.
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the Trinity into a Quaternity. It was a neat and simple term which could
easily be understood and used by laymen, and so it was by Arethas.* The
term had been revived as recently as 536 by Anthimus, the newly elected
Monophysite patriarch of Constantinople, in his letters to the two Mono-
physite patriarchs, Severus and Theodosius, as part of his confession of Mono-
physite faith.” This raises the question of whether Arethas was repeating qua-
ternitas as used by Anthimus, which he might have picked up when he was in
Constantinople recently. There is no way of knowing. It is also possible that
Ghassanid familiarity with Monophysite christology and its anti-Chalcedonian
polemics goes back to an earlier period than the 530s and that Arethas was
familiar with quaternitas even before Anthimus used it in his two letters to
Severus and Theodosius. In a previous chapter, it has been suggested that
Philoxenus possibly wrote to a Ghassanid bishop when he addressed a theo-
logical communication to a certain John the Arab in the reign of Anastasius;*
it has also been suggested that Simeon of Béth-Arsham possibly visited Jabala,
the father of Arethas, when he undertook a journey of seven years traveling in
the Monophysite kingdoms of the Near East. His biographer adds that he
brought with him the confessions of the various Monophysite communities. "
If so, then Jabala would have been conversant with the anti-Chalcedonian
polemic which probably included the term guaternitas with which the Mono-
physites reproached the Chalcedonians. Thus Ghassanid involvement in the
christology of the period could possibly go back to the first decades of the
century, and Arethas could have grown up in an atmosphere in which such a
term as guaternitas was not unknown.*

4 Aigrain (“Arabie,” col. 1207) lauds Arethas for his reply involving guaternitas: “un
doctrinaire du monophysisme n'aurait pas mieux dit.”

4 In his letter to Severus, Anthimus expresses himself against quaternity: “Quare et
rectissime unus e Trinitate sancta et connaturali est ante incarnationem et post incarnationem,
cum numerum Trinitati non addiderit, numerum quaternitatis”; Zacharia, HE, versio, p. 98,
lines 25—27. In his letter to Theodosius, Anthimus says: “Ideoque rectissime unus e Trinitate
sancta et connaturali est, antequam incorporaretur, et postquam incorporatus est, nec Trinitati
numerus quartus additus est”; ibid., p. 113, lines 8—11.

46 See above, 695.

7 See above, 741-44.

48 For Marcellinus Comes on guafernitas, see Chron. ad annum 512: “in hymnum trinitatis
Deipassianorum quaternitas additur”; quoted in Frend, Rise, 269 note 1. The term possibly
appears in the third decade of the 6th century in a work attributed to Dioscorus of Alexandria,
A Panegyric on Macarius, trans. D. W. Johnson, CSCO, Scriptores Coptici 42 (Louvain, 1980),
p- 37, line 13. On the question of authenticity and dating, see the introduction, pp. 8—11.
The term appears late in the century in A Panegyric on Apollo, Archimandrite of the Monastery of
Isaac, trans. K. H. Kuhn, CSCO, Scriptores Coptici 40 (Louvain, 1978), p. 12, line 15. For
recent works on Christianity and Monophysite polemics, see D. Johnson, “Anti-Chalcedonian
Polemics in Coptic Texts, 451-641,” in The Roots of Egyptian Christianity, ed. B. A. Pearson
and J. E. Goehring (Philadelphia, 1986), 216—34; and 1. R. Torrance, Christology after Chalce-
don: Severus of Antioch and Sergius the Monophysite (Cambridge, 1988).



The Reign of Justinian 751

The application of force during this second persecution conducted by
Ephraim in Oriens was noted by Zacharia.” This would have especially out-
raged Arethas as it might have violated the Arab concept of jiwar, the right of
refuge for the one who seeks protection. This had a parallel in Arab-Byzantine
ecclesiastical relations in the fourth century during the revolt of Queen Mavia
against Valens. Moses, the Arab bishop (unlike Arethas) turns away from
theological arguments with Lucius, the Arian of Alexandria, and concentrates
on the use of force by the Arians against the Orthodox.” Arethas did better
than Moses since he availed himself of a theological argument.’

5. In his reply concerning the Monophysite repudiation of the 630
bishops assembled at Chalcedon, Ephraim addresses Arethas as king. Al-
though this expression does not come in an official document, yet it is signifi-
cant and suggests that Arethas was addressed as king after the conferment of
the Basileia in 529. The passage exudes regal bearing on the part of Arethas,
even when he was addressing a powerful personality in Oriens, Ephraim, the
patriarch of Antioch and a former comes Orientis.”

6. Arethas’ reply to Ephraim’s reference to the 630 bishops assembled at
Chalcedon contains many noteworthy elements that reveal some facts of his
personality not usually documented in the sources which present him as a
soldier. For not replying in theological terms, Arethas excuses himself by
saying, “I am a barbarian and a soldier.” The use of the term “barbarian” by
Arethas himself is significant. This suggests that he was not 2 Roman citizen,
just as his foederati were not.” Or he may have used it with a different impli-
cation, namely, that he was not a cultured Hellene, not a man of books and
learning but a soldier and a man of action, and he hastens to add explicitly
that he was such, all of which is preparatory to the illustration he was about
to give in answering Ephraim. Perhaps Arethas’ employment of “barbarian”
may even be an expression of a self-image. It is normally used by the Rbomaio:
and applied to those who were not, especially if they did not belong to the

49 Zacharia, HE, versio, Book X, chap. 1, p. 118, lines 21 ff. Mention is made of the
tribune Clementinus who accompanied Ephraim while the latter was traveling in Oriens, forci-
bly converting the Monophysites of the area.

%% On Moses and Lucius as a parallel to Arethas and Ephraim, see BAFIC, 153-55.

3! Cf. the response of his grandson Nu'min to Maurice in a similar context; BASIC 1.1, 529-32.

%2 It is noteworthy thac Pseudo-Dionysius conceives of Arethas as one of the rulers of the
earth in company with Chosroes, Justinian, Abraha of South Arabia, and Andoug of Ethiopia;
see Chronicon Anonymum Pseudo-Dionysianum, versio, ed. and trans. R. Hespel, CSCO, Scriptores
Syri, vol. 213, II, p. 83, lines 3—6. It is relevant to state that Ephraim does not address him as
“my lord, patrician,” as Magnus addresses Arethas’ son, Mundir, who, too, was king. This
could argue that Arethas, as has been argued in this volume, was not yet patricius. On Arethas’
Basileia and patriciatus, see BASIC 1.1, 95—-109, 288-97.

%3 The Arab foederati were not Roman cives, but it is possible that their supreme phylarchs
may have been endowed with honorary citizenships.
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Graeco-Roman establishment; and so its use by Arethas himself is revelatory
of self-confidence in his own identity as a Ghassanid, which shrugged off the
overtones of the term “barbarian.”

Equally important is the following sentence, wrongly translated by
Chabort as “je ne sais pas lire les Ecritures.” The Syriac original uses the past
tense and simply says “I did not read.” The object of the verb is not what the
French suggests with its capital ¢, “les Ecritures,” but simply “books.” The
French could suggest that Arethas was illiterate, which of course he was not.*
He simply wants to say that he is a man of action and a soldier and cannot
continue to discuss theology as can academics and ecclesiastics. As to the
“books” mentioned in his reply, the natural interpretation of the term is the
relevant one in this context, namely, theological works on christology; but it
may simply mean books in general and so strengthens what he wants to em-
phasize, that he was not a scholar but a soldier and so he is not expected to
answer as scholars do.

The illustration that Arethas gives in reply to Ephraim’s question on the
assembly of 630 bishops at Chalcedon is taken from the world of the Arab
kitchen in the Ghassanid barracks. The reference to mutton and beef suggests
that these were considered choice meats worthy of being served at a feast. The
presumption is that ordinarily the soldiers ate camel meat, mentioned later in
the account, and that on special occasions when a feast was ordered, the meats
would be different.

The reference to the Tome of Leo and its comparison to the small rat that
infects the whole meal if it is found in the meat cauldron are both notewor-
thy. The implication is that the 630 bishops were uncorrupted until they were
influenced by the Tome, so the number cited by Ephraim does not sound
impressive. More important, it testifies to the fact that Arethas was not unin-
formed theologically. He knows of the Tome of Leo and mentions it by name.”

2

Ephrem ne pouvant faire changer Héret d’avis, commenca 2 le tourmen-
ter pour qu'il participat 2 la communion que lui, Ephrem, lui donnerait.
Le roi Héret lui dit: “Aujourd’hui, prends place avec nous au festin.” Et
il commanda, en langue arabe, a ses gens, de n’apporter a la table que de
la viande de chameau. Quand ils I'eurent apportée, Héret dit 2 Ephrem:
“Bénis notre table.” Il fut troublé et ne la bénit pas. Héret mangea selon
sa coutume. Ephrem dit: “Vous avez souillé la table, car vous avez ap-
porté devant nous de la viande de chameau.” Héret répondit: “Pourquoi

4 The word order in Syriac emphasizes “books,” not “read”: “books I have not read.” This
is further confirmation that illiteracy is not the question but bookishness.

%3 The comparison of the rat with the Tome of Leo is also amusing in view of the name of
the pope. In Ghassanid terms, the lion was really a rat!



The Reign of Justinian 193

veux-tu me contraindre de prendre ton oblation, puisque tu te crois
souillé par ma nourriture? Sache donc que ton oblation est plus mépri-
sable pour nous que ne I'est pour toi cette viande de chameau que nous
mangeons; car en elle se trouvent cachés I'apostasie et 'abandon de la foi
orthodoxe.” Ephrem rougit et s'en alla, sans avoir pu séduire Héret.”

1. The turn in the dialogue between Ephraim and Arethas takes place
when Ephraim, instead of continuing his theological argument with Arethas,
attempts to have him participate in the Chalcedonian communion and receive
the sacrament at his hands. This, of course, Arethas would not do, and his
refusal was consonant with the attempt of the Monophysites to have their own
hierarchy in this period, in order to insure continuity of worship and sacra-
ments within the Monophysite church.

2. Arethas gives orders for the feast in Arabic. This raises the question of
what language he spoke with Ephraim. The clear implication of the account is
that he spoke with him not in Arabic but in some other language, either
Greek or Syriac. So Arethas was probably bilingual since no interpreter is
mentioned in the account.

3. His order that they should bring on/y camel meat to the table could
suggest that the Ghassanids ate not only camel meat” but also other kinds of
meat such as the mutton and beef described earlier in the account, while the
reference to a table” suggests that they did not eat reclining on the floor. His
request that the patriarch bless the food suggests that this was normal in the
Ghassanid camp.

4. Ephraim’s refusal to eat camel meat is noteworthy. This was of course
forbidden in the Old Testament for the Jews (cf. Deut. 14:7). Ephraim was a
Christian but was called “the Jew” by the Monophysites for purely theological
reasons as part of their polemics against him. The appellation “Jew,” there-
fore, has nothing to do with his refusal to eat camel meat, unless he was a
conservative who obeyed some Old Testament rules, as certain Christian com-
munities such as the Ethiopians do. Most likely he was simply not used to
eating it and thus refused it. Perhaps it was this kind of food that certain
ecclesiastics considered “bad food” in the Provincia Arabia when they visited
it, and stayed with the Ghassanids for a short time, later in the century.”

General Conclusions

As already pointed out, the passage in Michael the Syrian is taken from
the Ecclesiastical History of John of Ephesus, the historian of the Ghassanid
dynasty, who must have met Arethas personally in Constantinople, as did his

36 Michael che Syrian, Chronigue, 11, 247—48.
37 As mentioned again later in the account.
%8 Not once but twice.

%9 See below, 879-80, cf. 927-29.
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son Mundir. It illustrates the great loss that the history of the dynasty has
experienced by the non-survival of the Ecclesiastical History in its entirety.
Arethas lived a long and active life, and this life must have been full of
episodes such as this solitary one that has survived in the life of a Ghassanid
king who reigned for forty years.

The chief interest of this passage is that it deals with non-military mat-
ters, unlike those in Procopius, which have prejudiced the perception of Are-
thas and his Ghassanids as a military group of rude soldiers. The passage gives
rare glimpses of the private life of the Ghassanids. Among the aspects of .
Ghassanid life it illuminates is the religious, when the supreme phylarch ap-
pears as a “theologian” who talks intelligently about guaternitas and the Tome
of Leo.

The dialogue with Ephraim reveals Arethas as a powerful personality who
dominates the scene even when the dialogue was with no less a figure than the
influential patriarch of Antioch, and a former comes Orientis at that. The power
of his personality is confirmed by the impression he made on Justin II late in
his life in 563. Twenty-five years earlier, when he met Ephraim, he must have
looked even more impressive. In addition to the ease with which he dominates
the scene, there is his intelligence in directing the course of the dialogue with
the patriarch, who asks an extremely embarrassing question. Arethas cleverly
parries the patriarch’s thrust, and when Ephraim offers to give him commu-
nion, he replies by offering an oblation of his own—camel meat! He reminds
one of the Arabs whom Theodoret of Cyrrhus in the preceding century lauded
for their intellectual acuity in argument.®

Although the Ghassanid foederat: were Byzantinized in some ways, yet
they retained a strong sense of their Arab identity, conveyed vividly in the
Arabic sources, especially contemporary poetry. But this passage in Syriac
provides additional materials for their private life and its various elements: (a)
the Arab kitchen in the Ghassanid barracks; (b) the kinds of meat they ate; (c)
cauldrons may be added to their utensils, and tables to the furniture of their
dining room; (d) benediction is said before they break bread.

Arethas’ refusal to convert to the Chalcedonian confession invites com-
parison with the case of another foederatus in the same decade. In 534 Gelimer,
the Arian Vandal, adorned the triumph of Belisarius in the Hippodrome after
he was brought as a captive to Constantinople. Although beaten and living as
a prisoner of war in Constantinople, he consistently refused to renounce his
Arian confession.

The bright light shed by this precious passage in Michael the Syrian
makes the historian of the Ghassanid dynasty regret the loss of the original

% See the present writer in BAFIC, 156-59.



The Reign of Justinian 755

from which it was excerpted. But even this was not available to Noldeke when
he wrote his classic on the Ghassanids since he had before him not the Syriac
version of the Chronicle of Michael the Syrian but the Armenian version which
omitted this passage. If Noldeke had had this passage before him, he would
have changed his views on how much theology the Ghassanid Arethas knew,®
and with it his other related views on the dynasty, such as the degree of
sedentarization that they attained.

III. ARETHAS AND THE CONSECRATIONS OF 542/43:
JacoB AND THEODORE
Monophysite historians® explicitly credit Arethas with a major role in the
resuscitation of the Monophysite hierarchy in the early 540s and assign this
role to the sixteenth year of Justinian’s reign, that is, to 542/43. Modern
historians have recognized this role and emphasized it.” But the passages in
the Syriac writers that document it have not been examined in detail, and
they raise important questions which remain to be answered.

The context within which Arethas’ decisive intervention took place has
been touched upon briefly earlier in this chapter when Justinian’s efforts to
reconcile the Monophysites reached a climax in the promulgation of the edict
on the Three Chapters.* The more immediate and relevant background to
Arethas’ intervention must, however, be sought in the crisis that the Mono-
physite movement was going through in this period, the latter part of the
530s, which witnessed what Monophysite historians call the second persecu-
tion, unleashed by Patriarch Ephraim of Antioch. The issue was that of the
consecration of bishops for the Monophysite church after their ranks had been
depleted by exile and persecution,” a period of tribulation that reached its
climax in the martyrdom of John, bishop of Tella, in 538. Arethas’ encounter
with Ephraim was set within this context, and it was a contribution only in
the sense that he kept himself and his Ghassanid Arabs within the Mono-
physite fold. But now he goes further than a passive role into something more
active; he appears in Constantinople and persuades the empress to help toward
the consecration of two bishops for the church, Jacob and Theodore. In so
doing, Arethas was instrumental in reestablishing the Monophysite hierarchy
and preserving it from extinction.

6! Nisldeke, GF, p. 21, lines 5-8.

%2 In addition to John of Ephesus, who will be discussed at length in this chapter, may be
added Michael the Syrian, Chronigue, 11, 245—46, and Bar-Hebraeus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum,
ed. J. B. Abbeloos and T. J. Lamy (Louvain, 1872), I, 217-19.

% Honigmann, Evégues, 159—60; Stein, HBE, I, 624—25; Devreesse, PA, 75; and Frend,
Rise, 284-85.

64 See above, 745.

65 Well analyzed by Frend, Rise, 283—84.
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Michael the Syrian’s laconic statement explains Arethas’ intervention
simply and clearly: “En cette année eut lieu 'ordination de deux évéques: les
saints Jacques de Pesilta, pour Edesse, et Theodorus pour Hirta de Na‘man,
dans la ville impériale méme, par les soins et les instances de Héret, et par la
sollicitude de I'impératrice Theodora. Le pape Theodosius les ordonna.”®

It is, however, John of Ephesus, who was a contemporary and witness of
these events and who knew the personalities involved, that is the primary and
reliable source. The fuller account involving Arethas comes not in the Life of
James (Jacob)® but in the Life of James and Theodore.* It is unfortunate that his
account of this in his Historia Ecclesiastica has not survived, and so the only
source that goes back directly to him is his Lives of the Eastern Saints, a mine of
information for eastern asceticism. In his Historia he probably provided data
for answering all the questions that will be presently raised. His account in
the Life of James and Theodore reads as follows.

Before these things therefore, in the sixteenth year of the reign of Justin-
ian, after the time of the martyrdom of the blessed combatant (&ywvt-
otig) for religion, John bishop of the city of Thella, at the hands of
Ephraim of Antioch, when a lack of priests had consequently arisen in
the countries of the east and of the west, and especially of bishops, then
the glorious Hereth Bar Gabala, the great king of the Saracens, with
many others asked the Christ-loving queen Theodora to give orders that
two or three bishops might immediately be instituted by the orthodox
(60600600E01) in Syria. And, since the believing queen was desirous of
furthering everything that would assist the opponents of the synod of
Chalcedon, she gave orders and two blessed men, well-tried and divine
persons, whose names were James and Theodore, were chosen and insti-
tuted, one for Hirtha of the Saracens, that is Theodore, and James for the
city of Edessa. And, while the blessed Theodore exercised authority in
the southern and western countries, and the whole of the desert and

66 Chronique, 11, 245—46. The toponym Hirta de Nu'min in the passage is an oversight on
the part of Michael, since this is the capital not of the Ghassanids but of the Lakhmids, the
well-known city of Hira. It is correctly described as Hirtha of the Saracens, the Ghassanid
Hirtha, in the Life of James and Theodore, written by John of Ephesus, and there is no doubt
whatsoever that this was the Ghassanid (not Lakhmid) Hirtha. And yet E. W. Brooks seems
uncertain which of the two it was when, in a footnote, he says that it is “probably different
from Hirtha d’ Nu‘man, the seat of the Persian Arabs”; PO 19 (Paris, 1926); p. 154 note 1.
Honigmann (Egégues, 161 note 2) understood the distinction between the two and indicated the
mistakes of scholars, ancient and modern, who confused them.

57 See the Life of James, PO 18 (Paris, 1924), p. 692.

68 Life of James and Theodore, 153—54. While the Life of James is an account of Jacob’s life
in its entirety, the Life of James and Theodore emphasizes his consecration in 542/43. It begins
with that crucial episode, elaborates on how it came about, and continues to describe the
achievements of Jacob as a bishop; so it is the more important Life in this respect.
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Arabia and Palestine, as far as Jerusalem, the blessed James, having
armed himself with religion, and clothed himself in the zeal of heroism,
extended his course over all the countries not only of Syria and the whole
of Armenia and of Cappadocia, all of which down to the little ones were
especially distinguished and strong in orthodoxy (6p80d0Eia) no less
than Syria, and besides these in the countries also of Cilicia and the
whole of Isauria and of Pamphylia and Lycaonia and Lycia and Phrygia
and Caria and Asia, and in the islands of the sea Cyprus and Rhodes, and
Chios and Mitylene, and as far as the royal city of Constantinople.”

The passage involves two Arabs: Arethas, the Ghassanid king, and Theodore,
the Arab bishop of the Ghassanids. In the interests of clarity, it is best to treat
them separately.

Arethas

John of Ephesus expressly says that the initiative for the ordination came
from Arethas, whom he describes as “glorious,” mshabha,”” which gives him
his rank in the Byzantine system of ranks and titles, and he refers to him as
the “great king of the Saracens,””' with reference to the extraordinary Basileia
conferred on him by Justinian around 530.

The year in which Arethas took the initiative is said by John of Ephesus
to have been the sixteenth year of Justinian’s reign. This, then, must be the
year 542/43. Justinian became co-emperor with Justin on 1 April 527 and
sole emperor on 1 August of the same year on the death of Justin. So if the
sixteenth year of his reign is calculated from August, chances are that the
initiative took place in 543 rather than 542.

John says that “many others” also asked the empress, Theodora, to help
in this matter. Although prominence is given to Arethas, since he is men-
tioned by name and in a flattering manner that indicates he was the spirit and
his was the influence that counted, others are associated with him. Who these
were is not clear, but they were possibly members of the Arab federate estab-
lishment, phylarchs close to Arethas, who bring to mind the familiers” men-
tioned by Michael in the passage that described the encounter between Are-
thas and Ephraim, and who were outraged by the synod.

% Ibid.

70 See BASIC 1.1, 516-17.

! Noteworthy is the fact that his patronymic, “Son of Jabala,” is used after his name.
Alchough this is normal, it might also reflect the fact that his illustrious father, Jabala, who
had dominated Arab-Byzantine relations for some thirty years, was still alive in the memory of
contemporaries. In 531, when Arethas took part in the campaign in Armenia under Sittas, he
was referred to only by his patronymic, “Son of Jabala”; Zacharia, HE, IX.vi; above, BASIC I.1,

142 with note 415. In the Arabic sources his patronymic always appears with his name, Arethas.
2 Above, 749.
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The passage suggests that Arethas was a well-known figure to Theodora
and, what is more, influential with her. Earlier” it was suggested that as a
leading Monophysite and a celebrated commander in Oriens, he was brought
to the attention of Theodora by the leading Monophysites of the period, espe-
cially Severus, as a personality to be reckoned with and who could be relied on
to further the cause of Monophysitism.

How did it come about that a soldier such as Arethas took the initiative
in this important matter, according to John of Ephesus? A conjunction of
events and circumstances could easily explain this. Arethas, as has been ex-
plained, was not a rude soldier but a zealous Christian and a dyed-in-the-wool
Monophysite, and it must have grieved him to witness the tribulation of his
church in this period of the second persecution, in addition to the disarray of
the ecclesiastical organization with no clerics to insure worship and to admin-
ister sacraments.”* Moreover, his own foederati had been without a bishop for a
number of years. He was a man of action and must have felt that his church
needed action from him at this juncture. The spectacle of another man of
action, a comes Orientis turned patriarch in the person of Ephraim, and the
activities of that person in the service of Chalcedonianism must have drawn
his attention to what he himself could do. Moreover, the military and politi-
cal situation in Oriens was favorable for action on his part. The Persian war
was in full swing,” and he knew that Constantinople would be reluctant to
alienate the commander-in-chief of the most efficient contingent of foederati in
its service for the prosecution of the war.” And Justinian’s record in dealing
with heretical allies such as the Goths and accommodating them must have
been known to Monophysite Arethas.

The question arises as to whether or not he actually came to Constantino-
ple to approach Theodora and effect the consecrations of the bishops. John of
Ephesus does not explicitly say this, but the visit to Constantinople may be
implied in his narrative, as it is in Michael the Syrian. Other sources explic-
itly affirm it, such as the so-called spurious Life of James and Bar-Hebraeus.”

7> Above, 738.

74 The non-availability of bishops in Syria was especially serious in Oriens south of the
Euphrates, exactly where Arethas’ phylarchate lay. The three places mentioned by John of
Ephesus (PO 18, p. 519) where consecrations could be performed were Marde, Persia, and
Alexandria, which thus excluded Oriens south of the Euphrates. Hence the action taken by
Arethas.

75 See R. Browning, Justinian and Theodora (London, 1987), 143.

76 The very same war also created difficulties for the consecration of Monophysites in
Persia, and this made even worse the already deplorable situation in Byzantine territory, where
Theodosius in Constantinople was reluctant to consecrate; see Frend, Rise, 284.

77 For the Spurious Life of James, see below, 768—71; Bar-Hebracus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum,
I, cols. 217-19.
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Modern scholars are divided on this point.”” No definite answer can be given
to this question, but the chances are that E. Stein was right when he favored
the possibility of a visit to Constantinople.” It would have been very difficult
to execute such a bold plan by correspondence with the empress. The empress
was powerful and influential but so was Arethas, and the presence of both in
the capital must have been deemed necessary to bring about the desired result.

Furthermore, Arethas’ visit to Constantinople in 563 may serve as a par-
allel.® In that year he came to the capital in order to arrange for the succes-
sion, but he was also engaged on the side with ecclesiastical matters pertain-
ing to the consecration of a patriarch for Antioch, Paul. Arethas would thus
have come to Constantinople officially for matters pertaining to the foederat:
and the Persian war, and then would have taken advantage of his presence in
the capital to attend to the question of the consecrations.

His presence in Constantinople raises the question of Justinian’s attitude
in this transaction. The consecrations could have been performed without his
knowledge, as negotiations for the consecration of Paul took place in Con-
stantinople itself in 563. Severus himself recommended secrecy in such deli-
cate matters and quoted Scripture in support of his position.* Justinian could
not have been enthusiastic about it, since he worked for the unity of the faith,
and so the rise of a2 new Monophysite hierarchy must have suggested to him
that union of the two confessions would thenceforward be well-nigh impossi-
ble. On the other hand, he may have viewed the consecrations differently and
have turned a blind eye to what was being done by his wife, since he himself
about this time (542) dispatched a Monophysite, John of Ephesus, to do mis-
sionary work in the region of Ephesus and in Asia Minor. So the empress may
have caught him in a receptive mood.

That Arethas acted not only as a Ghassanid concerned for the spiritual
welfare of his foederati but also as a good Monophysite Christian who was
concerned for the church of his doctrinal persuasion in its entirety, is evi-
denced by the fact that he asked Theodora not only for a bishop for his own

8 While Néldeke had his doubts (GF, 20 note 2), Stein did not rule this out and was
inclined to think that he did: “peut-étre vint-il lui-méme a Constantinople”; HBE, 625 and
note 1. Devreesse (PA, 75) and Honigmann (Evégues, 159) suspend judgment.

7 Although Stein (HBE, 624) seems to have swallowed Procopius’ calumnies against
Arethas in connection with the Assyrian campaign of 541. On Procopius and Arethas, see
BASIC 1.1, 297-306.

80 On this see ibid., 282-88, and below, 782-88.

81 It could be inferred from Severus’ letter to Theodosius in Alexandria that the consecra-
tion of Anthimus as patriarch of Constantinople in 535 was done in secret: “quod hoc clam
factum est”; Zacharia, HE, versio, p. 106, line 30. As late as 1979, Pope John Paul II secretly
created the Chinese archbishop Gong Pinmei a cardinal and announced it openly only in May
1991.
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Ghassanids and the federate Arabs in general but also for a bishop who would
have authority and jurisdiction over areas in the Near East other than his own.®
This resulted in the consecration of Jacob who, although associated with The-
odore, the bishop of the Arabs, on many occasions during their long minis-
tries, was active in areas other than those of Theodore, as is clear from the
long quotation in John of Ephesus. Arethas thus emerges as one concerned for
Monophysitism not only in the restricted Ghassanid area but also in the gen-
eral area of the pars orientalis. His wider sympathies bring him into close
relationship with figures in Monophysitism far removed from his phylarchal
jurisdiction. However, it may be said that the extension of his federate au-
thority by Justinian so as to include practically the whole of Oriens may have
widened his confessional horizons and made them coterminous with Oriens at
least; hence the keen interest he took in Monophysitism wherever it existed.
This role was to be assumed later by his son Mundir, who became even more
involved than his father in inter-Monophysite controversies involving Egypt.®

Finally, Arethas’ request for a bishop specifically assigned to the
Ghassanid federates in Oriens reflects an awareness on the part of the supreme
phylarch that his limitrophe in Oriens, presided over by him as supreme
phylarch and king, needed, perhaps deserved, an ecclesiastic whose rank was
commensurate with this extensive and powerful federate presence. The
Ghassanids had been without a bishop since the exile of the Monophysite
episcopate in 519. But then the Ghassanid phylarchate had been an ordinary
one, and it was only around 530 that Justinian transformed it. Since then, it
had grown in stature after being tested twice in the Arabian wars and in the
two Persian wars of the reign. So what Justinian started in 530, politically
and militarily, Arethas completed in 542/43 ecclesiastically, when he suc-
ceeded in having a special extraordinary bishop consecrated for his foederati.
The Ghassanid phylarchate now appears complete, as its church and state are
presided over by two eminent personalities, the energetic bishop and the re-
doubtable phylarch. The bishop of the new federate phylarchate derives some
prestige from his being the bishop of the most powerful federate army in
Oriens, and he in turn sheds some prestige on the Ghassanids because of his
privileged position as one of the two bishops consecrated by Patriarch The-
odosius in the royal city itself, and because of his association with Jacob
in ecclesiastical matters. Although these consecrated many new bishops, the
two remained the most prestigious in the Monophysite hierarchy of this
period.

82 The authenticity of John of Ephesus’ account that two bishops, Jacob and Theodore,
were consecrated is of course beyond doubt. It is confirmed by their association in Monophysite docu-
ments which they signed together or which were addressed to them both; see below, 798—-801, 807.

# See below, 896-910.
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Theodore

Theodore was the other bishop who, together with Jacob, was conse-
crated by Theodosius in Constantinople in 542/43. But while much is known
about Jacob and while ecclesiastical historians accord him much attention,
Theodore is hardly noticed.® There are good reasons for this neglect. The
chief historian of the consecration, John of Ephesus, paid much attention to
Jacob, to whom he had devoted a special Life and then returned to him in his
Life of Jacob and Theodore, in which, after mentioning Theodore briefly, he
concentrated again on Jacob. John's special interest in Jacob is understand-
able. The two came from the same geographical area® and were Syriac-speak-
ing, while Theodore came from Arabia and presumably was Arabic-speaking.
Jacob’s ministry was partly in Asia Minor, to which John of Ephesus was also
assigned by Justinian. And Jacob’s was the more important ministry, judging
from its geographical extent, while Theodore’s was much more restricted.
Hence Jacob’s share in the ordination of Monophysite clerics was more impor-
tant for the Monophysite church than Theodore’s, and this naturally attracted
the attention of John of Ephesus and historians since then.

Perhaps John did not entirely neglect Theodore. As has been indicated in
a previous chapter, John of Ephesus devoted an entire chapter to the history of
the Ghassanid dynasty,* and he may have discussed the career of Theodore in
that chapter, as also in the parts of his Ecclesiastical History that dealt with the
reign of Justinian, all of which have not survived. Theodore lived to a ripe old
age, since after his consecration he lived for some thirty years, dying at
roughly the same time as Arethas himself around 570. He appears intermit-
tently in Monophysite documents® taking part in important ecclesiastical
matters, but these are sporadic. It is difficult to believe that his activities were
limited to these references in the Monophysite documents in view of his long
incumbency of thirty years, of his being associated with such an energetic
ruler and zealous Monophysite as Arethas, and of his consecration at that
crucial juncture in the history of the movement when much was expected
from it, no less than the preservation and propagation of the Monophysite
confession. The record of Jacob in this direction has been preserved but not
that of Theodore, and the reasons have been given for this. He may not have
been as energetic as Jacob, but he must have made an important contribution

84 Honigmann is an exception; see Evégues, 159—64. Most of his section, however, deals
with identifying his see in Gaulanitis (ibid., pp. 159—63). The last two pages speak of his
activities as reflected in the Monophysite documents which refer to him, but there is no at-
tempt to say more than that.

83 Jacob was born in Tella and John in Amida; and the latter was consecrated bishop by
the former in 557.

% See BASIC 1.1, 540—43, 548—49.

87 See below, 798—801, 807.
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to the spread of Monophysitism and to missionary activity in his Arab area,
which may be distinguished from his contribution to other Monophysite ef-
forts as documented in the sources in these thirty years.”

Not much is known about Theodore’s background, but he was clearly an
Arab from the Provincia who apparently had been living in Constantinople as
a monk, and was known for being “a strenuous man.”® He must have been
known to Arethas, who may have met him if he came to Constantinople for
his investiture after being appointed basilens by Justinian around 530. His
elevation to this important episcopate at a critical juncture suggests that he
was deemed competent and worthy of the honor. His elevation to this high
position recalls that of another Arab, Elias, to the Patriarchate of Jerusalem
during the reign of Anastasius, and he too came from Arabia.” The name
Theodore must have been his episcopal name which he assumed in 542/43 or
had assumed when he became a monk. And it may be a translation of an
Arabic name with the root W-H-B or -T-Y.” Many Arabs assumed Graeco-
Roman or Christian names which obscured their Arab identity.” Had it not
been for the historian’s remark that he came from the Provincia, his Arab
identity would not have been clear.

The most important question that surrounds the notice of Theodore in
John of Ephesus is his see or the region of his authority and jurisdiction. This
is clearly stated in John of Ephesus in two parts: first there is the see to which
he was assigned; and then there is the geographical region over which his
authority extended; both are clearly defined, and they must be distinguished
from each other.

His see is referred to as “Hirtha d'Tayédyé,” that is, the “castra of the
Saracens.”” The first to try seriously to identify this hirtha, the castra of the
Ghassanids, was Noldeke. He thought that Jabiya in the Gaulanitis finally
became their main headquarters. As to the see of Theodore, he was first silent

88 Jacob Baradaeus has been treated in an admirable way by D. D. Bundy in “Jacob
Baradaeus: The State of Research, a Review of Sources and a New Approach,” Le Muséon 91
(1978), 45—-86. This section on Theodore will therefore serve as a complementary one to
Bundy's article as it treats the other member of the pair.

8 See Zacharia, HE, versio, p. 130, lines 20—21, where he is described as “Theodorum
monachum, virum studiosum.”

% On Elias, see BAFIC, 19295, 210-11.

91 Many Arabic theophoric names have these roots. Theodore was also the name of the
military saint, not inappropriate for the name of the bishop of the Ghassanid foederati.

92 John of Ephesus refers to “two pious monks . . . Benjamin and . . . Samuel.” Had it
not been for the fact that John mentions that they were Arabs, this could not have been inferred
from their names; see HE, versio, p. 239, lines 18-20.

It is a pity that the account of this consecration and references to Theodore have been
lost in Zacharia’s Ecclesiastical History. What has survived does not help much. He might have
offered some important data on the Ghassinids and their bishop, as he had done on Atfar
(Jabala) at the battle of Thanniiris and on Arethas in the Armenian campaign.
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on it when he briefly mentioned his consecration but later thought that the
see was mobile, following the Ghassanid supreme phylarch wherever he en-
camped.” Honigmann was the only scholar who, coming after Noldeke, tried
with his usual interest in toponymy to pinpoint the exact place of this hirtha,
the castra that became Theodore’s see, and concluded that it was located in the
Gaulanitis not far from Jabiya and Jasim. More precisely, he thought that
Tara dhe-Hartha and Jasim were the sites of the Ghassanid castra and the
administrative centers of the Ghassanid territory.”

These toponyms mentioned by Honigmann are important Ghassanid cen-
ters, but Jabiya is the one that turned out to be the most important one as
reflected in pre-Islamic poetry and the fact that it was chosen by the Muslim
Arabs during the early Muslim period, both patriarchal and Umayyad, as
their capital.” It is, therefore, correct to regard it as the Ghassanid capital or
headquarters, the more or less permanent residence of the supreme phylarch,
except when he would take the field. It is natural to assume that Theodore
resided there.

Perhaps the term birtha disinclined scholars to identify the birtha of The-
odore with Jabiya, which was a town. But the Ghassanid federate camps in
Oriens developed into towns in much the same way that Roman castra devel-
oped in Britain into towns that have retained in their names traces of the word
castra. This was the case of Jabiya, but the distinction between town and
camp in it has been obliterated. Jabiya was the town of residence that domi-
nated the region, Gaulanitis, and the region itself had camps (castra), more
than one, where the Ghassanid troops were quartered. The explicit of the
newly discovered letter of Simeon speaks of the bishop’s writing his letter
from the camp (birtha) of Jabala, the Ghassanid king in Jabiya, so that no
distinction between camp and town is made in the literary source.” In view of
all this, Jabiya emerges as the see of Theodore, since it was the capital of the
Ghassanids or their principal headquarters. But the Ghassanids were a mobile
field army that would move in Oriens in obedience to military exigencies

?4 See Noldeke, GF, 20, 47-49.

9> Honigmann, Ewvégues, 161-62. He rightly observes that reference to these two top-
onyms comes at the beginning of the list of monasteries in Arabia, but the conclusion that he
draws from this observation does not necessarily follow. Monophysite bishops in this period did
not live in the cities where the Chalcedonian ones resided; they lived in villages and in monas-
teries, and Honigmann apparently thought that this also applied to Theodore. But the case of
this bishop was different; he was protected by the military might of the Ghassanids and could
easily have lived without molestation at the main headquarters that Jabiya was.

% It is also significant that it is Jabiya of all the Ghassanid places that the Greek sources
know. It appears in Nikephoros and Theophanes as Gabitha; see Nikephoros, Patriarch of Con-
stantinople, Short History, ed. and trans. Cyril Mango, DOS 10 (Washington, D.C., 1990), p.
20, line 27, p. 68 and commentary, p. 187; for Jabiya see BASIC II.

7 See Martyrs, p. xxxi, lines 20—23, and p. 63.
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when their presence elsewhere was required. John of Ephesus, who wrote far
from Jabiya and Ghassanland and who viewed them as a military organization,
naturally used an appropriate military term, birtha. His use of it was unfortu-
nate since this misled future historians into thinking that these Ghassanids
were a group of nomads who had no settled residence and that such was their
bishop, Theodore.” But all that the description of Theodore’s incumbency in
John of Ephesus conveys is that he was consecrated bishop of a military group
and that his natural see was their headquarters, which, as has been argued in
this section, was naturally Jabiya. That he moved sometimes with the mobile
Ghassanid army or elsewhere in the extensive area of his authority should not
obscure the fact that his see was at some Ghassanid settlement such as Jabiya,”
and that he was primarily the bishop not of nomads'® but of the sedentary
Ghassanids, who were part of the field army of Oriens and thus mobile for
purely military necessities connected with their being functionally, if not
technically, a contingent in the Byzantine exercitus comitatensis.

It is even more important to determine the territorial extent of The-
odore’s bishopric than the name of his see, and again it is best to quote John
of Ephesus: “. . . the blessed Theodore exercised authority in the southern and
western countries, and the whole of the desert and Arabia and Palestine, as far
as Jerusalem.” Thus the territorial jurisdiction of Theodore was clearly exten-
sive and, for the sake of discussion, may be divided into what is precise and
defined and what is not.

1. In the first category are Arabia and Palestine as far as Jerusalem. The
reference to Arabia is clearly not to the Peninsula but to the Provincia, the
power base of the Ghassanid phylarchs, and the province of the chief phylarch,
Arethas himself, when he extended his authority over the Arab federates
throughout Oriens. This is consonant with what has been said about The-
odore’s see, that it was also where Arethas was stationed in.the Gaulanitis,
although this technically belonged to Palaestina Secunda. So, although The-
odore had extensive and far-reaching jurisdiction, his most immediate concern
was the Provincia Arabia, the seat of Arethas who was responsible for his

%8 When Noldeke wrote (GF , 47—48), the term hirthi, both the noun and the verb from
which it is derived, had not been discovered in the Sabaic inscriptions. These have since then
revealed hirthi to mean “camp” and not an enclosure for cattle such as used by nomads. Thus
the word cannot argue for the nomadism of the Ghassanids, any more than castra can for that of
the regular Roman soldiers; on hirtha, see BAFOC, 490-98.

9 Evaria (Huwwirin) also comes to mind. As has been said in a previous chaprer, it was
the seat of a bishop of the Arabs, John, who was among the exiles of 519. It has been suggested
that he could have been the bishop of the Ghassanids. But that was more than twenty years
ago, and since then circumstances had changed.

100 A5 will be indicated presently, Theodore's assignment was probably related to mission-
ary work among the Saracens of western Arabia and outside the /imes in northern Arabia, which
had its nomads.
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consecration. Thus the Provincia now had the two most important function-
aries, the supreme phylarch and his distinguished bishop.

The reference to Palestine is more complex since there were three Pal-
estines and Jerusalem was in Dyophysite Palaestina Prima. Two of the three
Palestines had a Ghassanid presence. Arethas was in charge of the federate
troops in Palaestina Secunda, and his brother Abi Karib was in Palaestina
Tertia, which comprised Sinai, the Negev, and a part of Trans-Jordania ex-
tending into northern Hijaz. So Theodore was still in Ghassanid territory and
moved in this vast area comprising Arabia and the two Palestines, Secunda
and Tertia. The Ghassanid bishopric was coterminous at least with the juris-
diction of the two Ghassanid brothers, an extraordinary bishopric comparable
to the extraordinary phylarchate of Arethas.

Theodore remained associated with Arethas in Monophysite ecclesiastical
matters until his death, and the phylarch’s connection with Monophysitism is
well documented. Not so that of his brother Abta Karib, who first appers in
Procopius without his Ghassanid affiliation; it was not until E. Glaser’s dis-
covery of the Sabaic Dam inscription of Abraha around 1900 that it became
known that he was a Ghassanid and the brother of Arethas. Not much else is
known about him. Now with the bishopric of Theodore extending to his
province, it may be fairly assumed that bishop and phylarch worked hand in
hand in the propagation of Christianity in those regions.'' The Syriac manu-
script discovered at Nabk now becomes more intelligible.'” It contains an
invocation to the believing king Aba Karib, and it is dated to the time of the
two bishops, Jacob and Theodore. Theodore became a well-known bishop in
Palaestina Tertia where Aba Karib was phylarch; he must have been involved
in the affairs of the Christian faith there and elsewhere. And the reference to
Theodore and to Aba Karib in one and the same manuscript clearly indicates
that Aba Karib, about whom nothing else was heard since reference to him in
Procopius around 530, was still alive at least as late as 542/43.

Theodore’s “jurisdiction” extended “as far as Jerusalem,” which was in
Palaestina Prima, not Ghassanid territory. Furthermore, it was solidly Dy-
ophysite; hence the reference to it calls for an explanation.

Jerusalem, of course, was the Holy City of Christians whatever their
denomination, and the Monophysites had struggled hard in the days of Sev-
erus to win it for their confession. Severus himself spent a long time as a
monk in the Holy Land. So it was not unusual to find in the sources that the

191 Eor all that pertains to Aba Karib, see BASIC 1.1, 124-31 and below, 845—49.

102 First noted and commented on by Néldeke, GF, 26-27. Néldeke could not identify
the Abi Karib mentioned in the manuscript because he wrote before the discovery of the Sabaic
Dam inscription, which has made certain that the Abu Karib of the manuscript could only have
been the same as the phylarch of Palaestina Tertia and the brother of Arethas; see above, 764 note 98.
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Monophysites desired to have a presence there. They must have been encour-
aged by the fact that the defense of the Holy Land against the pastoralists
from the north, south, and east was partly in the hands of the two Ghassanid
brothers. So probably the reference to Jerusalem belonged to wishful thinking
or nostalgia on the part of the Monophysites, but Theodore may well have
done some missionary work west of the Jordan in Palaestina Prima, which
could be reflected in the following.

Cyril of Scythopolis records a quarrel between two phylarchs in the re-
gion, Arethas the Ghassanid and al-Aswad. The passage was noted by
Noldeke who rightly concluded that a phylarch by the name of Arethas fight-
ing in Palestine in this period could only have been the Ghassanid, while al-
Aswad probably was a Kindite.'® It is difficult to guess what the bone of
contention was. With possible missionary activity on behalf of Monophysit-
ism, there may have been opposition on the part of the non-Monophysite
phylarch al-Aswad and Arethas may have been involved in an effort to support
the work of his bishop Theodore.'®

Palestinian toponymy presents two names that suggest a Ghassanid pres-
ence in this non-Ghassanid territory: Dayr “Amr and Dayr Ghassaneh. The
latter is a resoundingly Ghassanid name, while the former could very well be,
since “Amr is a hallowed Ghassanid name, going back to the famous ancestor
‘Amr ibn-"Amir. Although the former may turn out to be non-Ghassanid, the
lateer is difficult to explain except by assuming that it represented an effort of
the Ghassanids to gain a foothold in the Holy Land. Perhaps this happened
during the episcopate of Theodore, who himself had been a monk before his
elevation and consecration as bishop.'”

2. The other part of Theodore’s jurisdiction, the description of which is
couched in general and sometimes vague terms in John of Ephesus, speaks of
“the southern and western countries and the whole of the desert.” These are
very general terms in contrast with the specificity that attends Arabia and
Palestine, and the problem is what to understand by them.

Although the jurisdiction of Theodore is being treated here separately
from that of Jacob, the two were consecrated together and remained active
together. The presumption is that when the territorial divisions were decided
in Constantinople by Theodosius and Arethas for the mission of the two
Monophysite bishops, their spheres of activity were delimited but remained
related. Hence by contrast with Jacob’s sphere, that of Theodore becomes
clearer.

19 See GF, 17.

104 Further on this, see BASIC 1.1, 251-54. It is noteworthy that the quarrel took place
in the 540s, that is, after Theodore was consecrated as bishop; thus, on chronological grounds,
it is possible to assign a confessional base for the strife between the two phylarchs.

105 On the two dayrs (monasteries), see ibid., 654—55 and BAFIC, 255.
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Jacob’s see was Edessa, although he never dared to reside there. He was
responsible for the region that comprised Mesopotamia, eastern Anatolia, and
Egypt (he was active in Alexandria). That leaves, for Theodore, Oriens west of
the Euphrates but excluding Syria, which John of Ephesus includes in Jacob’s
jurisdiction;'* and by Syria must be understood the little province in the
north near the Euphrates, not the whole of the region to the south, since
Arabia and Palestine are specifically mentioned as pertaining to Theodore’s
jurisdiction.'” Within this framework, it is possible to arrive at what “the
southern and western countries” of the region mean.

The “southern countries” are clearly in relation to Syria and the region of
Edessa in the north over which Jacob presided, and this is true geographically.
The term “southern” could mean just that, but the language of John suggests
that not those two provinces or not only those are meant, since the Syriac
conjunction w (“and”) is cle